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Manulife Investment Management
(Hong Kong) Limited
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HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited
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HSBC Institutional Trust Services
(Asia) Limited
2020 10
(The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking )
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3
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Hua Tse Enterprises Limited
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HK Manulife Funds Direct

HK Manulife Asset
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Manulife Investment
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2024
45,214,286 56.95
405,793 0.51
317,403 0.40
248,517 0.31
149,819 0.19
15,310,403 19.29
15,136,047 19.07
371,457 0.47
369,729 0.47
218,389 0.28
168,993 0.21
96,802 0.12
78,007,638 98.26
1,378,542 1.74
R
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30
2024
ey 415 750 | 203 11 15 | 2,680,000 | 1.06 | 2,846,711 0.99| 2,666,393 | 3.36
e 419 750 | 2043 11 15 | 2,032,000 | 1.02| 2,064,556 | 0.98| 1,093,801 [ 2.51
e 000|203 31 | 2,023,000 0.99| 2,010,461| 0.96| 1,941,008 | 2.45
e 4 000|203 15 | 1,973,000 o0.98| 1,936,382 0.95| 1,868,716 | 2.3
e \/B.2:9% 500 [ 2045 15 | 2,431,000 | 1.13| 2,753,800 | o0.69| 1,668,753 | 2.10
o oy 46258 625 | 2000 30 | 1,250,000 | 1.00| 1,248,333 1.00| 1,245,477 1.57
ot 46258 6252031 30 | 1,202,000 1.00| 1,200,501| 1.00| 1,196,730 | 1.51
sy 0L FRN .000 | 2053 1,216,000 | 0.95| 1,151,226 | o0.89| 1,082,237 1.36
o oL FR 500 | 2050 12 1,945,000 | 0.73| 1,417,072 | o0.54| 1,042,528 | 1.31
10| U5 TREASORY 4.9% 500 [ 2044 15 | 1,072,000 o0.99| 1,062,541 0.95| 1,018,056 | 1.28
11 [ (e e POOL PR .000 | 2052 1,036,000 | 0.89 021,128 | 0.87 905,001 | 1.14
12| NS e POOL PR 500 | 2050 1,800,000 | 0.5 963,581 | 0.50 898,298 | 1.13
13| PRI JE POOL PR 500 | 2053 1,012,000 | 0.95 956,828 | 0.88 886,107 | 1.12
14 | (e e POOL PR .000 | 2052 986,000 | 0.85 836,981 | 0.81 798,034 | 1.01
15 Lljg,TlRlE,AZSOLLF;M% .000 | 2042 11 15 875,000 .00 874,304 | 0.89 780,308 | 0.98
16| (ot e POOL PR 500 | 2052 900,000 | 0.89 796,771 | 0.84 753,553 | 0.95
17 | A e POOL PR .000 | 2053 690,000 | 0.96 665,204 | 0.93 638,958 | 0.80
18| (e POOL PR 500 | 2052 10 708,000 | 0.88 621,500 | o0.85 598,833 | 0.75
19 | (e e oL PR 500 | 2049 2,138,000 | 0.29 630,605 | 0.28 594,217 | 0.75
20 | FATNIE W POOL FRN .000 | 2037 785,000 | 0.77 603,921 | 0.75 585,456 | 0.74
21 [ e ey o PR .000 | 2052 845,000 | 0.84 706,753 | 0.69 583,040 | 0.73
22 | FREODIE de POOL PR .000 | 2053 620,000 | 0.94 584,450 | 0.91 566,639 | 0.71
23 | FAIIIE e POOL FRN .000 | 2049 12 1,350,000 | 0.50 673,535 | 0.37 505,526 | 0.64

42/261



EDINETOOOO

o o =<0 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FANNIE MAE POOL FRN
24 01/05/2052 4.000 | 2052 624,000 0.82 513,513 0.79 494,447 | 0.62
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN
25 01/06/2052 4.500 | 2052 601,000 0.85 509,305 0.82 492,435 | 0.62
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN
26 01/09/2052 5.500 | 2052 569,000 0.88 501,789 0.86 489,248 | 0.62
US TREASURY 3.375%
27 15/11/2048 3.375 12048 11 15 614,000 0.93 568,876 0.78 481,016 | 0.61
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN
28 01/03/2051 4.000 | 2051 646,000 0.79 510,202 0.71 459,270 | 0.58
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN
29 01/09/2052 5.000 | 2052 535,000 0.87 467,431 0.84 450,677 | 0.57
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN
30 01/02/2052 2.000 | 2052 660,000 0.72 472,542 0.67 443,464 | 0.56
2024
2024
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2020 25
2021
2024

2018 12 31

2019 12 31
2020 12 31 71,177,650 11,167,773 100.58 15,781
2021 12 31 112,882,397 17,711,248 97.36 15,276
2022 12 31 82,443,719 12,935,420 82.04 12,872
2023 12 31 67,655,271 10,615,112 85.17 13,363
2023 77,844,505 12,213,803 83.39 13,084
74,624,601 11,708,600 83.15 13,046
74,444,404 11,680,327 82.99 13,021
70,056,245 10,991,825 82.41 12,930
66,935,359 10,502,158 79.55 12,481
10 62,489,406 9,804,588 77.90 12,223
11 64,403,687 10,104,938 81.67 12,814
12 67,655,271 10,615,112 85.17 13,363
2024 66,273,086 10,398,247 84.99 13,335
64,437,382 10,110,225 83.61 13,118
63,911,899 10,027,777 84.05 13,187
59,768,269 9,377,641 81.81 12,836
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2018 12 31
2019 12 31
2020 12 31
2021 12 31 8,370,265 1,313,295 100.45 10,342
2022 12 31 6,603,291 1,036,056 83.84 8,632
2023 12 31 4,297,395 674,261 85.52 8,805
2023 6,221,376 976,134 84.66 8,717
6,346,879 995,825 84.31 8,681
6,381,202 1,001,211 84.06 8,655
6,099,059 956,942 83.27 8,573
5,838,522 916,064 80.31 8,269
10 4,654,496 730,290 78.51 8,083
11 4,004,818 628,356 82.18 8,461
12 4,297,395 674,261 85.52 8,805
2024 4,126,890 647,509 85.24 8,776
3,758,621 589,728 83.76 8,624
2,860,523 448,816 84.07 8,656
2,722,349 427,137 81.76 8,418
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EEIE;I.H-J"J Eﬂﬂl_n'llf'.l' 31 2['23:‘4;' 30 :'E'E.?.l'llﬂ.rﬂ 3['33;'4; 30 242 3."I'n{:'.l'31 :.":'Z-i."il.l'i']
2020 2020 12 31 0 0
2021 2021 12 31 1.00 157
2022 2022 12 31 1.00 157
2023 2023 12 31 1.00 157
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2024 2024 0.50 8
3.50 549
2020 25 2024
2021 2021 12 31 0.50 51
2022 2022 12 31 1.00 103
2023 2023 12 31 1.00 103
2024 2024 0.50 51
3.00 309

2021 2024
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2020 2020 12 31 0.58
2021 2021 12 31 2.21
2022 2022 12 31 14.71
2023 2023 12 31 5.03
100x
100

NS DERE (BEE~—X)
[ ZAKFILET)]
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2021 2021 12 31 0.95
2022 2022 12 31 15.54
2023 2023 12 31 3.20
100%
100

IV DI (FFE~—2)
[ 2A(&FRTA S B)]
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15% b
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2020 709,672 2,000 707,672
2020 12 31 709,672 2,000 707,672
2021 1,039,465 587,704 1,159,433
2021 12 31 1,039,465 587,704 1,159,433
2022 434,130 588,642 1,004,921
2022 12 31 434,130 588,642 1,004,921
2023 147,909 358,431 794,399
2023 12 31 147,909 358,431 794,399
2021 130,539 15,810 114,729
2021 12 31 130,539 15,810 114,729
2022 47,874 47,051 115,552
2022 12 31 47,874 47,051 115,552
2 41,800 73,754
2023 7 3
2023 12 31 2 41,800 73,754
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23 103
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2023 12 31
2023 2022
4(b) 93,427,940 14,658,844 113,732,235 17,844,588
4(b) 569,638 89,376 579,558 90,933
638,096 100,117 697,975 109,512
24 4 160 25
67,952 10,662
1,701,163 266,912 6,820,110 1,070,075
101,747 30,085 3,300,267 517,812
96,596,560 15,156,000 125,130,305 19,632,945
4(b) 1,559 245
1,723,831 270,469 9,286,610 1,457,069
8(a) 8(b) 121,648 19,087 137,275 21,538
8(c)
1,847,038 289,800 9,423,885 1,478,608
94,749,522 14,866,200 115,706,420 18,154,337
2,671,431 2,584,248
1,374,398 1,773,108
794,399 1,004,921
73,754 115,552
688 726
1,002 912
85.17 13,363 82.04 12,872
85.52 8,805 83.84 8,632
2024 26
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2023 12 31
2023 12 31 2022 12 31
7,170,961 1,125,124 7,575,593 1,188,611
41,675 6,539 26,568 4,169
(13,262,811) (2,080,935)  (19,550,188) (3,067,424)
10,384,419 1,629,315 (11,489,969) (1,802,776)
27 4

(73,170) (11,480) (1,553) (244)
4,261,101 668,567 (23,439,549) (3,677,665)
8(a) (258,882) (40,619) (320,857) (50,342)
8(b) (56,462) (8,859) (69,811) (10,953)
8(b) (12,000) (1,883) (12,000) (1,883)
(34,650) (5,437) (34,695) (5,444)
8(b) (95,200) (14,937) (93,600) (14,686)
8(b) (13,142) (2,062) (9,699) (1,522)
(1,337) (210) (1,458) (229)
8(b) (3,912) (614) (5,658) (888)
8(c) (662,837) (103,999) (729,891) (114,520)
8(b) (29,433) (4,618) (23,220) (3,643)
(1,167,855) (183,236) (1,300, 889) (204,109)
3,003,246 485,330 (24,740,438) (3,881,775)
(2,018,477) (316,699) (2,352,337) (369,082)
1,074,769 168,631 (27,092,775) (4,250,856)
(17,062) (2,677) (26,080) (4,092)
1,057,707 165,954 (27,118, 855) (4,254,948)
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2023 12 31

2023 12 31 2022 12 31
115,706,420 18,154,337 156,560,201 24,564,296
18,388,557 2,885,165 43,301,249 6,793,966
1,027,483 161,212 1,169,595 183,509
(41,430,645) (6,500,468)  (58,205,770) (9,132,485)
(22,014,605) (3,454,092)  (13,734,926) (2,155,010)
1,057,707 165,954 (27,118,855) (4,254,948)
94,749,522 14,866,200 115,706,420 18,154,337
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2023 12 31

2023 12 31 2022 12 31
1,057,707 165,954 (27,118,855) (4,254,948)
(7,170,961) (1,125,124) (7.,575,593) (1,188,611)
(41,675) (6,539) (26,568) (4,169)
17,062 2,677 26,080 4,092
2,018,477 316,699 2,352,337 369,082
(4,119,390) (646,332)  (32,342,599) (5,074,554)
20,304,295 3,185,744 41,762,845 6,552,590
11,479 1,801 (680, 455) (106,763)
5,118,947 803,163 (6.,820,110) (1,070,075)
- - 249 39
(7,562,779) (1,186,600) 4,480,637 703,012
(15,628) (2,452) (17,123) (2,687)
13,736,924 2,155,323 6,383,444 1,001,562
7,213,778 1,131,842 7,613,785 1,194,603
41,811 6,560 26,408 4,143
20,992,513 3,293,725 14,023,637 2,200,309
18,320,605 2,874,503 43,899,934 6,887,900
(41,430,645) (6,500,468)  (58,722,221) (9,213,516)
(990,993) (155,487) (1,182,742) (185,572)
(24,101,033) (3,781,452)  (16,005,029) (2,511,189)
(3,108,520) (487,727) (1,981,392) (310, 880)
3,300,267 517,812 5,281,659 828,692
191,747 30,085 3,300,267 517,812
191,747 30,085 3,300,267 517,812

1,027,483 2022 1,169,595
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2023 12 31

2012 11

2013 14

2017 11 27 2023 12
31
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2023

2023

2023

2023
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2023 12 31 94,749,522 2022 115,706,420
2023 12 31
2022
2023

) ) ) ;

2,584,248 1,773,108 1,004,921 115,552

777,329 259,965 147,909 2

134,969 51,827 - i}

(825,115) (710,502) (358,431) (41,800)

2,671,431 1,374,398 794,399 73,754
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2022
) ) ) ( )
2,522,357 1,830,500 1,159,433 114,729
164,993 263,970 434,130 47,874
112,787 66,010 - -
(215,889) (387,372) (588, 642) (47,051)
2,584,248 1,773,108 1,004,921 115,552
2023 2022
688 726
1,002 912
85.17 82.04
85.52 83.84
®
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2023 2022
93,427,940 99,337,715 98.61 113,732,235 129,749,553 98.29
569,638 - 0.60 579,558 - 0.50
1,559 - 0.00 - - -
2023 2022 12 31
2023 2022
- 357,338
171,843 240,877
476,127 513,203
346,475 1,256,269
246,678 192,281
242,172 321,748
380,727 912,933
- 148,500
511,690 956,344
- 166,349
- 238,331
- 163,500
383,037 240,157
165,974 173,750
- 189,787
- 201,716
- 507,603

101,443 178,316
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- 365,088

90,401,774 106,230,645

- 177,500

93,427,940 113,732,235

2023 2022 12 31

2023 2022

1.46 1.13

0.92 0.82

0.02 -

12.14 17.63

1.13 1.09

0.83 0.92

6.70 7.69

0.75 0.65

23.06 16.05

- 0.72

7.02 7.96

35.02 28.99

2.53 4.05

0.84 1.87

6.05 8.17

0.14 0.55

98.61 98.29
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2023 2022 12 31 10
2023 12 31

1,267,824 9,844,997 82,315,119 - 93,427,940

- - - 569,638 569,638

- - - 2,407,235 2,407,235

191,747 - - - 191,747

1,459,571 9,844,997 82,315,119 2,976,873 96,596,560

- - - 1,559 1,559

- - - 1,845,479 1,845,479

- - - 94,749,522 94,749,522

- - - 96,596,560 96,596,560

1,459,571

9,844,997

82,315,119
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2022 12 31
579,083 15,171,117 97,982,035 - 113,732,235
- - - 579,558 579,558
- - - 7,518,245 7,518,245
3,300,267 - - - 3,300,267
3,879,350 15,171,117 97,982,035 8,097,803 125,130,305
- - - 9,423,885 9,423,885
- - - 115,706,420 115,706,420
- - - 125,130,305 125,130,305
3,879,350 15,171,117 97,982,035
2023 12 31 100
6,005,617 (2022 7,345,475 )
1,117,161 2022 1,292,570
2023 2022 12 31
2023 2022 12 31
2023 2022 12 31
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2023 12 31
93,427,940
569,638
191,747

2022 12 31

113,732,235

579,558
3,300,267
10
25 )
2023 2022 12 31

12
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2023 2022
4.74 9.66
0.61 1.42
8.61 7.08
21.42 27.72

1.42 1.47
61.81 50.94
98.61 98.29

2023 2022 12 31
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2023 12 31
569,638 569,638
569,638 569,638
1,559 1,559
1,559 1,559
2023 12 31

569,638 1,559 568,079

569,638 1,559 568,079
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2023 12 31
1,559 1,559
1,559 1,559
2022 12 31
579,558 579,558
579,558 579,558

579,558 579,558

579,558 579,558
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12

2023 12 31
1,559 1,559
1,723,831 1,723,831
121,648 121,648
94,749,522 94,749,522
96,596,560 96,596,560
2022 12 31
9,286,610 9,286,610
137,275 137,275
115,706,420 115,706,420

125,130,305 125,130,305
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2023 12 31
93,427,940 93,427,940
569,638 569,638
638,096 638,096
67,952 67,952
1,701,163 1,701,163
24 24
191,747 191,747
96,596,560 96,596,560
2022 12 31
113,732,235 113,732,235
579,558 579,558
697,975 697,975
6,820,110 6,820,110
160 160
3,300,267 3,300,267

125,130,305 125,130,305
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2023 2022
4,300,488 6,747,521
13,102,641 14,678,913
17,403,129 21,426,434
2023 2022
215,024 10 674,752
655,132 20 2,935,783

870,156 3,610,535
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2023 2022 12 31
( )
2023 12 31
93,427,940 93,427,940
569,638 569,638
93,997,578 93,997,578
1,559 1,559

1,559 1,559
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31
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113,732,235 113,732,235
579,558 579,558
114,311,793 114,311,793
2023 2022 12 31
2022 12 31
2022 12 31
2023 2022
(13,262,811) (19,550, 188)
10,384,419 (11,489,969)

(2,878,392) (31,040,157)
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2023 12 31

11,895,526
3,878,432

395,236
135,310

2022 12 31

14,196,541
6,650,335

12 31

1,729,438,309
5,913,635

55,401,579
197,236

1,917,106,514
9,889,680
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2023 2022

569,638 579,558

569,638 579,558

1,559 -

1,559 -

2024 31 417,360
2024 31 152,278
569,638
2024 31 (716)
2024 31 (843)
(1,559)

2023 31 482,373
2023 31 97,185
579,558

81 50
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20AC 20ACA 20AN 20A0

16.5 2022 16.5

24

0.6
2023 12 31 258,882 2022 320,857
2023 12 31 19,614 2022 24,771
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0.1
12 31
2023 2022
56,462 69,811
12,000 12,000
95,200 93,600
13,142 9,699
3,750 3,750
29,433 23,220
209,987 212,080
2023 12 31 16,451 2022 - 18,042
0.33
2023 12 31
252,759 2022 : 287,234
2023 12 31 19,681 2022 :23,733
(
)
2023 12 31 2022
2022 0.5 2022

0.5 0.5 2022 0.5
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2023 2022
12 31
668,982 679,715
358,501 489,880
916,677 1,099,468
74,317 83,274
2,018,477 2,352,337
10
11

2024 26
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
STATEMENT OF FINAMCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
2023 2032
Motes usn UsD
Assets
Financial assets st fuir vadue theough prolit or loss L] 93,427,940 113,732,235
Dezivetive financinl assels 4(b), 6 569,638 579,558
Interest recsivable on nterest-bearing s=curlies 638,09 697,975
Trntercst receivable on deposits 24 160
Arneunts reeeivable on subscription 67,952 5
Armcunts receivable un sule of inveslments 1,701,563 6,820,110
Cash and cash eqguivalents 191,747 3,300,267
Total assets 96,596,560 125,130,305
Liabdlities
Derivative financial liabilities 4], 6 1,559 -
Amounts payable en purchase of investments 1,723,821 9,286,610
Other payables B{a), 8(b). Ble) 121,68 132,275
Linhilities (excluding nel assels altributable to
unithelders) 1LE4T008 9,423,885
et assets altributable to unithalders 3 04,740,522 115,706,420
Number of wuifs in ssee i
- Class A - Div (IPY Hedged) i 2671431 1584248
= Class A = Div (TPY Unhedged) 3 1,374,308 1,773,108
- Class A — Div (USD) 3 794,596 008 92
- Class A — Div {AUD Hedged) 1 73,754 115,552
Net astel value per undt
- Class A - Div (Y Hedged) 3 JEYEsE IPY726
= Class A = Div (JPY Unhedged} 3 JPY 12 s )
- Closs A - Div (USD) 3 LUSDRS 1T USTE2.0
- Class & = Div (AUD Hedged) 3 AUDES 32 AUDE3.E4

Approved by the Manaper and the Tristez on 26 Apsil 2024

Cm behalf of Manulife Investment Management (Hong Kong) Limited

(Bl ™ " -

O behalf of HSBC Trustes (Cayman) Limited

L.

Vinith Rao - Director

The nates on pages 10 0 33 are an integral part of thess Gnancial slatements.
&
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Income

Interest fram inlerest-bearing securities

Bank inferest

Wet realized losses on Gnancia! assets at fair value
through profit or loss and derivative financiel
instrumenis

Met chanpe in unrelized gainalosses) on Anancial
asseis at fair value through profit or loss and
derivative finoneial instnuments

Sundry income

Mel exchange losses

Expenses

Investment management fee
Hale custody and processing fee
Trustes fee

Auditor's remuneration
Valuation fee

Tran=action handling fea
Anmual authorily fee
Accounting and other professional fees
Distribution and agent fee
Other operating expenses

Total operating expenses

Operaling income/{loss)

Finnnece cost
Distribution to unitholdsrs

Profit{less) alter disiribution and before tmxation

Taxation
Withhalding texes

Increassi{decreasc) in net essets attritutable to
unitholders

Notes

Bia)
8(b)
8(b)

8(b)
“B(b)

&(b)
B(c)
8(b)

Year ended

3 December 2023

UsD

7,170,961
41,675

(13,262,811)

10,384,419
27
(73,170

{258, 382)
(56,462
(12, 000)
(34,6507
(95,200
(13,142

(1,337
(3,912)

{662,837)

(29,423)

(1,167,855}

3093246

(Z0L8ATT)

1,074,768
(17.062)

1,057,707

e

The notes on papes 10 Lo 23 are an integrel pert of thess finuncial stetemeants,

Year ended

31 December 2012

usp

7,575,593
26,568

{19,550, 188)

{11,489,969)

{1,553)

(320,857)
{69.811)
(12,000)
{34,695)
{53,600)

(9,699)
(1,458)
(5,658)

{729,851)

{23,220

{24,740,438)

{2,352,3537)

[27,092,775)

(26.050)

(27,118,855)

7
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS THUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES [N NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Year ended Vear ended
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Notes usp usp
Net assets attributable to wnitholders af the
beginning of the year 115,706,420 156,560,201
Subscription of units 3 18,388,557 43,301,249
Re=investment af distributions 3,0 1,027,483 1,169,595
Redemption of units 3 (41,430,645) (58,205, 770)
(22,014,505) (13,734,926)
Increasefdeerease) in mel assets attributable to
unitholders 1,057,707 (27,118,855)
Met assets atiributable to unitholders at the end of
the year 94,749,522 115,706,420

The notes on pages 10 16 33 are an integrel part of these financial stetements.
8
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED TNCOME FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER. 2023

Yearended Yearended
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
UsD Ush
Cash flows from operating activities
Increass{decrease) in net assets atiributable to
unitholders 1,057,707 (27,118,853)
Adjustments for:
Interest from interest-bearing securities (7,170,951) (7.575,503)
Bank intersst (41,675} (26,568
Withhelding taxes 17,062 26,080
Distribution fo unitholders 2018477 2352317
Operating loss before worldng capital changes 4,119,350) (32.242.500)
et decreass in financial assers at Far valse through
profit or loss 20,504,295 41,762 825
et decreass/{increase] in derivative financial
instrmEnE 11,479 (6R0A455)
Net decrease/{increase) in amounts recsivable on sals of
invesments 5,118.947 (6,520,110)
Net decreass in other receivables - 249
Met (decrease}fincrease in amounts payable on purchase
of investmente (7,562,779) 4,480,637
Met decrease in other pavables (15,628) {17,123)
Cash generated from operations 13,736,924 6,383 444
Interest from interest-bearing secarities received 7,213,778 T613, 788
Bank interest income received 41,811 25,408
Met cash generated from operating activilies 20,992,513 14,023,637
Cash flaws from financing activities
Proceeds am subscription 18,320,605 43,599,934
Pavments on redemption (41,430,645) (58,722,221)
Payments on distribution (90,293) (1 182,742)
Met cash used in from financing activilies {24.101,033) (16,005,029)
Met decrease in cash and cash equivalenis (2,108,520) (1.981,392)
Cash and cash equivalents @ the bepinning of the year 3,300,267 5,281,659
Cash and cash equivalents at (he end of the year 191,747 3,300,267
Analvsis of balance of cash and cash equivalenis
Cash al banks 191,747 3,300,267

Mon-cash transsctions:
Draring the year, distribution of USD1 027,483 (2022: TISD1,169,595) was reinvested in the fund.

‘The notes on pages 10 10 33 are an integral part of these financial statements.
9
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

. TheFund

The Manulife Tnvesments Trust {the “Trust”) is an umbrella unit trust ereated by o st deed (the “Master
Trust Deed”) dated § November 2012 between HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee™) and
Manulifie Tnvestment Management (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Manager”). The Master Trost Deed was
amended and restated by an smending and restating deed dated 14 June 2013 (as amended end supplemented
from time to time)} (the “Amending and Restating Deed™). The Trust iz a lieensed mutual fund wder section
(1} of the Mutual Funds Act of the Caymian Tslands.,

The Trustes and the Manager eazklished Manulife Investments Trust - US Corne Fixed meome Fund, & series
Trust (the “Furd™) by execution of 2 relevant Supplemenial Trust Deed, The Fund commenced operations on
27 Movember 2017 {date of inception). Az at 31 December 2023, apart from the Fund, there are four other
series truses, namely, Manulife Investments Trust - Steategic Income Fund, Manolife Tnvestmenls Trosg: -
Stratepic Income Opportunities Fund, Manalifi Investrments Trest - Glabal Allocation Fuad 11 and hMenclife
Investmenis Trust - Global Semiconductors Equity Fund.

I, Sopmmary of material accounting policies

The materind pecounting policies applied in the pregaration of the financial statements are szt gut below, Thesa
pelicies have bean consistently applied 1o all the years presented, unless otherwise stated,

{a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements bave been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financiul Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs™) issued by the Hong Kong Instiuate of Certified Public Accountants ("HEICPA™),
The financial statemenis have been prepared under the historical cost convention, a3 medified by the
reviluation of financial azsets and finencial lishilives (including derivative financial instruments) at feir
valis through profit or koss, :

The preparation of financial stafements in conformity with HKFRSs requines the Trustee and the Manager
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affest the application of policks and the mpened
arcunts of 2ssels and liabilites, income and expenses. The estimates and asseciated wisumptions are
bazed on histerical experiznce and various olker factors that are believed 1o be reasonable under the
circumstances, the resulis of which form the basis of making the judgements aboul carrying values of

estimates.

The statement of financial position represents assets and liabkilities in increasing order of liquidity and
does not distinguish between current and non-current items.

Standards and amendments bo existing standards effective | January 2023

There are no gandards, amendments to standerds or interpretations that are effective for aoneal pededs
beginning on 1 January 2023 that have a malerial cffect on fhe financial statements of the Fund

Hew standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective after 1 January 2023 and have
pot been early adopted by the Fund

A number of new slandands, amendments o standards acd imerpretndons are effective for anmaal
perinds bepinning after 1 January 2023, and have net been carly adopted in preparing thess financial
statements. None of thess are expected o have & matecial effect on the financial stotements of the Fund
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED X1 DECEMBER 2023

2. Summary of material accountiog policies (Continued)
{b) Financial assels at fair value throngh profit or loss
Classification

The Fund classifies its investmenis based on both the Fund's business model for maneging thoss finencial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets, The portfolio of financial assats
is managed ard performance is evaluated on a fir value basis, The Fund is primarily focused on fair
value miormation and uses that information to assess the assets” performance and to meke decisions. The
Fund has not taken the option to imevocably designate any equily securitics as fair value through other
comprehenzive income. The contractual cazh flows of the Fund's debl seourities are solely principal and
interest, however, these securitizs are neither held for the purpose of collecting contractual cash fows
nor held both for collecting contractual cash Tows end for sale. The collection of contractual cash fows
is only incidentzl to archiving the Fund’s business model*s objective. Consequently, all investments ans
measured at fair valee through profit or boss,

Derivative contracts that have & negative fair value are presented as liabilities st fair valus fhrough profit
or lpgs,

Recognition, de-recognition and messurement

Regular purchases and sles of investments are recogmized on the trade date - the date on which the Fusd

commmits io purchase or sell the investment. Financial asscls at fair vabue through profit or loss are initially

recopnized at fair value. Transaction cosls are expensed as incurred in the statement of comprehensive
. income,

Financiul essets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash Dows Som the nvestments hewve sxpired
or the Fund has transferred substantielly all nsks and rewards of ounership.

Subsequent Lo initial recognition, afl Financial assets &t fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value, Gaing and losses arising from changes in the falr value of the “Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss" category are presented i the staternent of comprehensive income.

Interest on debl securities at fair valee through profit or loss is recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income within interest income besed on the effective Dilerest rats,

Fair valoe cstimation
The following represent the basis of valuation for financial reponing purposss:
(i} Investments which arc listed or traded on an exchange are fair valued based on last traded prices.

{ii} Investments which are not Bsted on an exchange or arc thinly traded are valued by using quetes from
birakers.

(e Income

Interest income on debt securities are included in inferest From intersst-bearing securities within the
statement of comprehensive income. Interest income on debt instruments other than floating rate
securities are recognized on a time-proportionats basis using the effective tnterest meathod. Other income
is mecountsd for on an accreal basis.

The effective interest method is 2 method of caleulating the amortized cost of an intersst-bearing
instrument and ol allocating the interest income over the relevant period, The effective interest mte is tha
rate that exactly discounls eslimeted future cash receipts throughout the expsetad life of the fnancial
instrurnent, or a shorter period where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the fuiancial instrument,
When caleulating the cffoelive interest rate, the Fund estimates cash flows considering all contractua
terms of the financial instrement (for example, prepayment options) but does net consider fufure credit
lngses, The caleulation includes all fees and points received berween parties to the contract that are an
integral part of the effective intercst rate, transection costs and all other premiums or discounts.
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2. Summary of material accounting policies (Continued)
(i) Translalion of foreign currencies
(i} Functions) and presentation currencics

Itemns included in the Fund's financial statements are messured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it operates (the “ functional currency™). The financial stilements are
presented in United States dollar (USD™), which is the Fund's funetional and preseatation currency.

(i) Transactions and balances

Forsign currency transactions are translated into ke functional currency using the cxchange rales
prevaling at the dates of the trnsactions. Foreign currency asscls and labilities ere tanslated into
the functional currency using the exchange rete provailing at the statement of financial position date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses zrising from translation are presented as “Met exclouge losses™
in the statement of comprehensive income.

Fareign sxchange gains and lesses relating to the fnancial assets and liabilities carried et feir value
through profit or loes are presented in the statement of comprehenzive income within "Met realized
losses on financial assets al fair valee through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments”
and "Net change in unrealized gains{losses) on financial assets et flr value through profit e loss
and derivative financial instruments”. !

(e) Expenscs
Expenses are avcounicd for on an accoual basis,
(f) Dermcative financiul insiroments

Crutstanding forward forcign exchange contracts ane valued ot the vearfpericd end dats b refersnce fo
the forward rale of cxchange epplicable tw the outstanding term of the conract The falr vales of bond
futures and opfions iraded in active markets are based on lnst traded market prices at the close of trading
on the reporting date. The fuir value of options that are not traded in &n active market is determined using
valuation techniques, The Fund uses a variety of mothods and malkes assunptions that are based on
market condiions existing of sach reporting date. Valwation technigues used inclode the use of
comperable meent anm’s length transaetions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the
same, diseounted cash ow amlysis, option pricing models and other valustion techniques commonly
wszd by market participants making the maximum use of market puts and relving a5 little 25 possible
am entity-specific inputs, Unrealized gaing or losses on sutstending contracts and realized gams and losses
on closed eontracts ame shown in the statement of comprehensive income within “Net change in
unrezlized prinsf{losses) on financiel assets at fair value theough profit or loss and derivative finaneial
instruments”™ and “Met realized losses on Anancial wssets of fir value throwgh profit or loss and derivative
financial instruments™, respectivoly.

(g} Subscription and redempiion of unils

All proceeds and peyments for units issued and redesmed are shown as movements in the statement of
changes in net assets amributable to enitholders. The net asset value afthe Fund 5 computed daily, Prices
firr issnacs and redemplions are based on the latest available preceding valuaton

The Fund izsues four classes of units, which are redesmable ot the holder’s option and de not have
identical Aights. Such units erc classified as financial labilites. Units can be put back to the Fund ot any
time for cash equal 1o & proporiionate share of the Fund's cet asset value,

The redeemakle shares are sarried ot amartized cost which corresponds io the redemption emount that is
payable at the statement of Gnancial position date iTthe holder exercise the right to put the share back 1o
the Fund.
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED [INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. Summary of material accounting policies (Continned)
{g) Subseripiion and redemption of units (Continued)

Uhits are issued and redeemed at the holder's option &t prices based on the Fund's net asset value per
unit at the time of issue or redemption. The Fund's net asset value pes unil for each class is celoulated by
dividing the net assets atmibuatable to unitholders of the clasz with the total number of cutstanding units
in the class.

{h) (Hfselting financial instruments

Financial assets and Habililics sre offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial pasition
when therz is & legally coforecable right to offse! the recognized amounts and there is an intention io
sottle on @ net basis or realize the assel and settle the lability simultaneoushy, The legally enforceabls
right will net be contingent on future cvents end must be enforeeabls in the normeal course of the business
aned im the event ef delaull, inselvency or bankruptey of the Fund or the counterparty.

(i) Amounts receivable on sale/pavable on purchase of invesrments

Ampunis receivable on sale/payable on purchase of investments regresent receivables from investments
sold and payables for investments purchased thet have been contracted far but not vat setled ot dalivared
on the statement of fnencial position date respectively. The emounts receivable on sale of investments
talance is beld for collection,

These amounts are recognized intially at fir vaiue end subsequently measused at amortised cost At
cach reporting date, the Fund shell measure the loss allowacs oo amounts recelvable on sale of
investmenis at an amount cqual 1o the lifelime expected credit losses if the credit risk has incrsased
ggnificantly since midel recognition. If, et the reporting date, the credit misk has not inereased
significantly since mitial recognition, the Fund shall mezsure the loss allowance at an amount equal i
12=month expected credit bosses. Significant financial difficulties of the broker, probability that the
troker will enter bankruptey or fnancial reorganization, and default in payments are all considered
indicators that & loss allowance may be required. If the credit risk increases to the point that it is
congidered o be credit fnpaired, interest income will be calovlated based on the gross camying amount
adjusted for the loss allewance. A significant increase in cradit risk 15 defined by management as any
contraclual payment which is mors than 30 days past dus, Any contractual payment which is more than
90 days past due is considered credit impaired.

(i Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalenrs includes cash at barks, deposits held with banks, other shori-term, highly
liquid investrments with oeiginal maturities of thres months or less that are readily convertible to known
amount of cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,

(K} Distribution to unitholders

Distributions 10 Class A — Div (IPY Hedged), Class A — Div (JPY Unhedzed), Class A - Div (USD) and
Class A = Div (AUD Hedged) unitholders are presented o fnanee cost n these Onanclzl statements as
the net aszets attributzble o unitholders are classificd as financin] liabiliges. They will be Sret paid out
of the income {which may include capilal pains) which are recogrized in the statement of comprehensive |
income, thereafier out of the capital of the Fund attributable to the relevant class of units of the Fund.

The distributions to Class A — Div (JPY Hedged) and Class A - Div (JPY Unhedged) unitholders are
declosad monthly and will be automaticaily reinvested in additional units of the same class and will be
issued at @ subscription price on the reinvestment date.

The distributions to Clazs A = Div (USD) and Class A — Div (AUD Hedged) unitholders are declared
semi-armually, The full distributions will be paid in cash 1o the unit holders,
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3, Number of upits o issue and et assels attributable to unitholders per unit

The Fund’s capital is represented by the units in the Fund and shewn a3 “net assets attributable wo unitholders™
in the statement of Arancial position. Subscriptions and redemptions of units during the year are shown in the
slatement of changes in net assels atirfbetable fo unithalders, In order to achisve the inveshnent objectives,
the Fund endeavors to invest its capifal in accordance with the investment policias, as outlined in note 4,
whilst maintaining sufficient liquidity o mest rademption requests. Such liquidity is augmented by the
holding of liguid investments. .

As at 1| December 2023, the Fund has JSD9E, 749,522 (2022: USD115.706,420) of puttable financial

instruments clussified as Habilities, As at 31 December 2023, the Fund offiers 4 (2022; 4) clastes of units,
Class & = Div (TPY Hedped), Class A — Div (JPY Unhedged), Class A ~ Div {USD) and Class & - Div (AUD'

Hedged).
2023
Class A — Div

Class A = Div (IPY  Class A-Div  Class A - Div
{(JPY Hedged)  Unhedged) (USD) (AUD Hedged)
Units Units Unifs Units

Balancs brought forward 2584248 - 1773108 1,004,521 115,552

Total subscriptions 177,329 250,065 147,909 2

Tofal re-investment - 134,963 51,837 - .
Total redsmptions {825,115 {710,502) (358.431) (41,8003
Balance earried forward 2,671,421 1,374,598 794,390 73,754

2022
Class A — Div

Class A = Div (IPY Clazs A~Div  Class A - Div

(JPY Hedged)  Unhedged) (USD) (AUD Hedped)

Units Units Units Units

Balznce brough: forward 2,522,357 1,830,500 1,159,433 114,729
Total subscriptions 164,993 263,970 434,130 47,874
Total re-invesment 112,787 &6,010 = =
Totzl redemptions (215,889) {387,372) [588,642) (47,051)
Balanee caried forward 2,584,248 1,773,108 1,004.921 115,552
023 2022

Met assets sttributable to unitholders per unit

Class A — Div (JEY Hedged) JFYERER IFY'T26
Class A — Div (JPY Urhedged) Iy LD IPYa12
Clazz A = Div (LIS USDE5.17 LUSDE2.04
Class A - Div (AUD Hedged) AUDSSS52  AUDS3.84

14
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - U8 CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEBER 2023

4. Financial risk manapement
(a) Financial risk factors
The investment objective of the Fund is to erm 2 high fevel of corrent income and to maximize total
returns over a full market cyele by investing primarily in government, corporate and securitized fixed
ineome securities and instruments issued in the United States.

The Fund is exposed o markct price risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, credit and custody
risk, liquidity fisk and curreney risk,

The risks and the respective risk management policics cmploved by the Fund to manage thess risks are
discyrssed belaw.

0

L=

Markel price risk

Marlest price risk is the risk that the valoe of 2 financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in mearket prices, whether those changes are caussd by factors specific to the individual instrument or
factors aifecting all instruments in the market,

All investments present a risk of loss of capital. The Fund's market prics rigk is managed through (i)
deliberate securities selection, and (i) diversification of the investment portfolio.

Al the vear end, the overall market exposures were as follows:

2023 2022
%o of %% of
[air valoe Cost oei  Fair value Cost net
S USD  assets UsD USD  asseis
Financial asssls
Finanzial assets at fair
wvalue through profit
or loss 93,427,040 99337715 98,61 113,732.235 129,749,551 08.29

Derivative financizl
assats (note 6) 69,638 - 060 579,558 - 050

Financial liakilities

Derivative fnancial
liabilities (note &) 1,559 - 0. - - -

I3

103/261



EDINETOOOO
o o =<0 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED [INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMUER 2023

4. Financial risk management (Continned)
i) Markei price risk (Conlinued)
MNet market exposures

The following table chews the net market exposure the Fund has to various merkets, incorporating (he
underlying market risk through all financial assets 2t fair valus through profit or toss (sxoept derivatives)
held by the Fund as at 3| December 2023 and 2002:

2023 022
USD equivalent USD equivalent
Maeket exposure to

Australia - 357,338
Barmwda 171,843 240,877
Canade 476,127 513,203
Cavinan [slands 346,475 1,256,269
Frames . 246,678 142 281
Germany 242,172 321,748
Great Britain 380,727 G12.931
India . 148,500
Trelaid 511,650 F56,344
Japan - 166,349
Luxembourg - 238,331
Metherlands - 163,500
Norwey 383,037 240,157
Fanama 165,974 173,750
Peru - 189,787
Qatar - 201,716
Saudi Arabia - 407,603
Singapaore 101,443 178,316
Spain - 345,088
' The United States of America 20,401,774 105,230,645
United Arab Emirates - 177,500
93,437,940 113,732,235
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20213

4. Financial risk management (Centinued)
(b} Market price risk (Continued)
Net market exposures (Continned)

The following table shows the sumrery of the sector exposures within fnancial aseets al fair valuz
through profit or boss {except derivatives) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

2023 2022

o of o of
Sectors exposed Lo nel assels aet assets
Adrlines 1.46 1.13
Automahbile 0492 (.82
Building Constructions 0.0z -
Capital Markeis 12,14 17.63
Chemicals L.13 1.0%
Entertainment 0.83 0.92
Finance 0. 70 7.69
Foed & Beverage 0.75 0.65
Grovernment 2306 1605
Hozel - 0.72
Tndustraal 102 706
Miscellaneous 502 25.99
Muorlgage 2.53 405
Retail 0.84 1.87
Technolopy 6.05 817
Transporiation 0.14 .55

98.61 BR.29

As ot 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Fund had no investments issued oy the same issuer with market
value cxcecding 10% of its net assets, As the Fund mainly invests in debt securities, the sensitivity
anelysis of market price risk is disclosed in the interest rate sensitivity 2nalyeis in note 4(c) below,
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Financial risk management (Continued)

(¢} Cash flow and fair valoe interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate dus o changes in market
inferast rates.

Interest rzte risk arises fom the effects of Auctuaiions in the prevailing levels of markets interest rates
on the fair value of intersst-bearing assets and liabilities and fudure cash Now. The Fund also holds cash
ard cashequivalents and debt securities that expose the Fund to cash flow interest robe tisk.

The tuhle below summarizes the Pund’s expasare to interest rate risk, It includes the Fund's assels and
linhilitics at fair values, categorized by the sarlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates.

At 31 December 2023:

Up to Maon-interest
i vear 15 yenrs  Oneer 5 years hearing Total
UsSD UsD UsD LSD 1L 1]
Assels
Finamclal assets a2 fair
value through profil or
loss 1,267,524 9,844,997  B2315119 - 03,427,940
Derivative fmancial
insnement - - - 589 638 569,638
Other assels - - - 2407235 2407235
Cash and cash equivalents 191,747 - - - 101,747
Toitn] asseis 1450571 0,844,907 82315119 2076873 96,506,560
Liahilities
Deerivalive finpacial
instrement - - - 1,559 1,550
Other labilities - . . 1845475 1,B45,47%
Met gesels attributathe to
untholders - - - 04 749522 94,745,522
“Tan! liahilities - - - 96,595,560 96,596,560
‘Total interest sensitivity
map 1,459,571 9.544 957 82,315,119
15

106/261



EDINETOOOO
o o =<0 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4, Financial risk managemeni (Continued)
(e} Cash flow and fair value interest rute risk (Continved)
At 3] December 20221

Up o Nou-izberest
1 year I=Svears  (ver5 vears bearing Total
LSD LISTY L5n UsD TED
Agzpis
Finznciel pssets ot fuir
value threugh profit or
loss 575,083 15,171,117 OF 982035 - 113,732,235
Dervative fnancial
inalrument - - - 578,558 579,553
Other assets - - - 7,518,245 7,518,245
Cash and cash equivalents 3,300,267 - . - 3,300,267
Total assets 3879350 15,171,117 o7,.0892.035 3097 803 125,130,305
Liabilities
Olber lisbtlities - - - 9423 R35 0423 BES
blet asses attzibumbls to
untithalders - - = LIS, T08420 115706420
Total lisbilitics - - = 125,130,305 125,130,305

Total intevest sengitivity
e 3870350 15,171,117 97,982,035

A at 31 Dacember 2023, should the relevant interest mics bave loweredfrisen by 104 basis points with
all other variables remaining constant, the inerease/decrease in net assets attributable to unitholders for
the year would amount o approximately USD6,005,617 (2022: USD7T,345475), arising substantially
from the increaseidecrease in merket values of debt secwrities. [n addition, USDI, 117,161 {2022
P51 1,292, 5700 would arise from the increase on interest income on financial assals at fair value theough
profit or loss &t floating rates. These represent management's best estimate of o reasonable possible shift
“in the market interest rale.

Asg at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalénts is considered by
the Manzger {0 be immaterial, Thercfore, no interzst rute ek sensitivity analysis is presented for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4 Financial risk management (Continued)
{d) Credit and custody risk

The Fund is expotad to credit risk which iz the risk that an issuer or covnterparty will be unable or
unwilling to pay amounts i full when due.

The main concaniration of credit risk to which the Fund is exposed arises from the Fund's investmonts
in debt securities and derivative financial insruments. The Fumd is also exposed to credil risk on cash
and cash equivalents and assets held with custodian, The table below summarizes the assets placed with
barks and custodian at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

At 31 December 20213

Long-term Issuer Source of
UsD Credit rating credit rafing
Cuastodiar,
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corpoaration Limiled 03,427,040 Ah- S&F
Derivative Counterparty
HSBC Bank Hong Kong 569,638 A+ S&P
Bank
The Hongkongz and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited 191,747 A S&P
At 31 December 2022
Long-term Issuer Source of
USD Credil raling credit rating
Custodiag
The Hongkeng and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited 113,732,235 Ad- S&P
Derivative Counterpary
HEEC Bank Hong Keng 379,558 A= &p
Bank
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Linted 3,300,267 A S&p
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MANULLFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - '8 CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4, Financial risk mapagement {(Continued)
{d) Credit and custedy risk (Contloued)

The Frmd is exposed to credit risk that the issuers of the debt seourities may not be able to repey the
prircipal ameunt at maturity gnd inerest. This credit risk is mitigated s the dabt securities held by the
Fund are subject to the requitements of {i) maximum holding of 1096 of net asset value for any single
issuer, or (i} maximum exposure of 23% 1o =ny one industry, and {{ii) will maltain an average portfolio
credit quality of B ar higher.

Under HKFRS 9, the Fund measures credit risk and expected credit bosses using probability of defach,
exposure ut defindl, and loss given defanlt. Management consider both historical analysis and forward
locking infornuation in determining any expected credit loss. At 31 December 2023 and 2022, all cash and
cosh equivalents, intersst recsivable on deposits, amounts receiveble on subseription, and emounts
racajvable on sale of investment are held with counterparties with a credit mling of A= or higher.
Management consider the probability of defanlt to ke close to zero s these instraments have & low risk of
defzult and the coumterparties have & strong capasily to meet their contructual obligetions in the near tenn.
As a result, no los=s allowance has been recognized based on 12-month expected credit lossss as any such
impairment would be insignificant to the Fund.

The table below summarizes the credit rating of the invastment portfolio (of the actunl tranche) by credit
rating soureed from Stendard and Poor”s (S8&F): ’

Portfolio by rating calegory

Raling 223 w2z

%4 of net asiets %h of net assels
AAA 4.74 9.656
AAHAATAA .61 1.42
AIATA- 2461 T.08
BEBB+/EBB/'BEBRE- 2142 2772
BR+ER 142 1.47
M.RE 61.8] 5094
Tatal 08.561 0g.29

The maxinim exposune to credit visk at year end iz the cammying smount of the financial agscis as shown
on the statement of financial postton.

None of the assets is impaired nor past due bul not impaired,

*The Mansger may purchase urrated securities {which are not rated by a rating agency) if the Manager
deteomines that the security is of comparable quality to a rated seeurity that may be purchased for the
goeount of the Fund, Unreted securities may be less liquid than comparable mted securities and invalve
the risk that the Mansger may not accurately evaluate the sseurity's comparative eredit rating. Analysis
of the creditworthiness of issuers of unrated securities may be more complex than for issucrs of higher-
quelity fixed income securities. To the extent that the Manager invests in unrated securities, the Fund's
success i achieving its investment objective may depend more heavily on the Manager's
ercditworthiness analysis then i the Manager invested exclusively in higher quality rated securities. The
sub-investment Manager intends to keep the average credit quality of the Fund, in principle in the
invegtment grade range (BBB- or above), determined by the sub-investment Manager, In fhe absence of
acredit reting from S&P, tie Manager would alse consider credit ratings from Moody's or Finch,
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MANTILIFE, INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCTAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

4. Financial risk management (Continued)
(#) Offsetting and amonnts subject to mazter netting arrangements and similar agreements

As at 2] December 2023 and 2022, the Fund was suhject 1o master netting errangsments with its
derivative counterparties. All of the derivative asscis and lishilities of the Fund are held with
cowntseparties and the margin balance maintained by the Fund is for the purpose of providing eollateral
on derivative positions.

The following tzbles present the Fumud's financial assets and libilities which are subject to offsetting,
enforceabls master nettng amsnpements and similer egreements by tvpe of Snancial instrument.

Financial aseets and liabilities subject to ofTsetiing, enforceable master netfing arrangentents and similar
apreemnents 75 at 31 December 2023:

A B C=AB
Gross armounis of
recognized Mat amounts of
finaneial lisbilitics financial assets
set-ofT in the presented in the
Gross amaunls of recopaized statement of  statement of financial
financial asgets  [financial position position
Description
Derivative financial ssscts
- Forward forsign exchange
contracts 560,638 - 569,638
569,638 . 560,678
e — —
Derivative financial lizbilities
- Forward forsign exchange
contracis 1.559 - 1,559
1559 = 1,559
i—— —
22
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4, Finapocial risk mavagement {Confinwed)

(¢) Offsetting and amounts subject to master vetting arrapgemcnis and similar agreements
(Confinued}

The following tables present by counterparsy of financial inshument:

Financial assets subject to offistting, enforceable master netting arcangeraents and similar agroements as
at 31 Decernber 2023:

Cm= AR i) E=(-D
Med smounts of  Related smounts nat set-of in
financial essets the statement of financial

rescated in the pasificn
: statement of Dii) i) Pet el
financial pesition Financial Cash
instrizments collateral
Counterparty
HEBC Bank Hong Keng 509,638 1,559 - 568,079
569,638 1,559 - 568,079

Financial liabilities subject to offestting, enforceable master netling arrangements end similar agrezments
as at 31 December 2023

C=aAR ] E=C-D
et amounts of  Related amounts not set-off in
financial the statement of francial
liakilities position

presented in the 6T, Dy - emount
stalement of Financial Cazh
financial position.  instruments collateral
Counterparty
HSBC Bank Hong Kong 1,559 1,559 - -
1,559 1,559 - .
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

4. Financial risk management (Contnued)

{¢) Offseitiog and amounts subject fo master oetficg arrangements and similar agreements
(Continued)

Flrancial assets and labilities subjest to offsaiting, enforeeable master nefting armangsments and similar
ggreements as &t 31 December 2022

A B C=AB
Grozs amounts af
recognized Met amounts of
financial linbilites financinl assets
set-ofT in the presented in the
Gross emounis of recognized statement of statement of financial
finarcial essets  finencial position position
Descriphion
Derivative financial assats
- Forward forsign exchange
contricls 579,558 - 579,558
579,558 - 579,558
— .
C=A-B D E=C-D
Met amounts of  Related amounts not set-off in
financial assets the statement of financial
resented in the nasition
P gt o ) D) et amount
finencial position Financial Cash
instruments collateral
Counterparty
HEBC Bank Hong Kong 379,558 - - 579,558
579,558 = . §79,558

The Fund and its counterparties have slected to settle all transactions on & gross basis, However, sach
party has the option to setile all open confracts on a net basis in the evert of default of the other party. As
per the terms of the master netting agreement, an event of default includes the following:

= fzilure by a party to make payment when due;
#  frilure by a party to perform any obligation required by the agreement; or
s hankmuplcy.
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2413

4. Fimancial risk management (Continued)
(i Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in settling 2 ligbility, including a
redempdion request.

In respect of structured sccurities, they may also be more volatile, less liguid and more diffcult o
accurately price than less complex securities. The liming of purchase and sale transsetions in debt
ohligations may result in capita] appreciation or depreciation because the value of debt obligutions
generally varies inversely with prevailing interest rates,

The tahle below znalyzes the Fund’s financial lizbilities into relevant maturity grovpings based on the
remaining period st the year end date (o the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the table anc the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, os the
impact of discoumting is not significant,

Less than Over 3
3 months months Tuodal
UsDh usn 5D
At 31 December 2023
Dierivative financial liabilities 1,559 - 1,559
Amounis pryeble on purchese of
investments 1,723,851 - 1,723,831
Other payables 120,648 - 121,648
Wet assels altibutable o uniltholders 94,745,573 - 04,745,522
Total financial liabilities 94,596,560 - 08,598,560
Less than Dver 3
3 months momths Total
UsD usp UsD
AL 3] December 2022
Amounis payeble on purchase of
imvestmenis 9,286,610 - 9,286,610
Other pavables 137,275 - 137,275
et assats attributable to unitholders 115,708,420 - 115708420
Total financial liabilitics P25, 130,308 - 125,130,305
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - U8 CORE FIXNED INCOME FUND
MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

4. Financial risk management {Continued)

(f} Liquidity risk (Continued}

The Fund manages its liguidity risk by investing prodominantly in debl ssourities that it expects 10 be
agble to Eqeidate within 3 months or less. The Tllewing takle illustrates the expected liquidity of assets

held by the Fund;
Less than Over 3 Total
3 months muonihs
TUED USD USDh
AL 31 December 2023
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 93,427,940 - 93,427,940
Derivative financial assels 560 638 = 560,638
Interest receivabie on inlerest-hearing
securilics 638,006 - 638,005
Amounts receivable on subscription §7,952 - 67,952
Amounts receivable on sale of
investments 1,700,163 - 1,701,163
Interest receivable on deposils 24 24
Cash and cash equivalens 181,747 £ 191,747
Taotal assels 0,506,560 96,506,560
Less than Owver 3 Tatal
3 mouwths months
LsD UusD LsD
At 31 December 2022
Finansial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 113,732,235 - 113,732,235
Dierivative financial assets 579,558 - 579,558
Interest receivable on interest-bearing 2
securities 97 575 - 697,974
Amounts receivable on sale of
investoents 4,820,110 6,820,110
Interest raceivaible on depesits 160 160
Cash and cash equivalents 3,300,267 - 3,300,267
Total assets 125,130,303 - 125,130,305
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
MNOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4, Fivancial risk management (Cootinued)
{g) Currcocy risk

Currency risk is the risk that the valee of fnancial insmuments denooninated in other currencies will
fluctuate due o chonges in foreign exchange rates.

The Fund has monetory assets and lisbilities denominated in currencies other than United States dollar,
the Fund's functional and pressntation currency. Tha Fund is therafors exposed o cumrency risk, as the
value of the assets and labilities denominated in other cumrencies will fluctuate due to changes in
exchange retes, The Manager will enter into forward forsign sxchengs contracts from time i time to
hedge against the fluctuation in exchange rates. The Manager will enter into forward foreign exchange
comtrnets from time to time to hadgs against the fluctiation in sxchange rates,

The teble below summerizes the Fund®s net exposure to different major currencies:

2023 922

UsD LISD

cquivalents equivalents

Australian dollar 4,300,438 6,747,521
Japaness Yen 13,102,641 14,678,913
Total 17,402,129 21,426,434

(Gross sxposures to curency risk on forward foreign exchange contracts onfstanding 2t the vear end 2re
disclosed in note 6.

The table below summarizes the impact on net assels atiibutable to unitholders as 2 result of
increases/decreases of foreign exchange rates on the exposures tabled abave, to which the Fund is
exposed. The analysis is based on the assumption that the foreign sxchange rates had increased'decreased
by the respective percentase with all other variablas held constant. This represents management's best
estimate of a reasonable possible shift in the foreipn exchange rate,

2023 022

Change in Change in

foreign Toreign
exchange Impact exchanpe Tmpact
rates Usn rales UsD
+- - +- +/-
Australian doliar 5% 215,024 10%% 674,752
Japansss Yen % 655,132 2% 2.935,783
Tatal A70,156 3,500,535
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR TIHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

4. Financial risk management {Contianed)
{h) Fair value estimation

* The fair value of fnancial assets and liakilities traded in active markets (such as trading securities) are
based on quoted market pricss at the close af trading on the year end date. The Fund used the last traded
market price as its fir valvation inputs for bath financial assets and financial liabilities.

An active market is 3 market in which tmosactions for the asset or liability take place with suiTicient
Frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basgis.

A financial instrument is regarded 25 quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and repularly
avzilable from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or repulstorny ageney, and
these prices represent sctual and regularly eccorring market franszctions on an arm''s fength basia

The carrying value less impaimment provision of other receivables and payables are assumed (o
approsimate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated
by discounting the futurs condractual cash flows at the current markel interest rate that is available to the
Fund for similar financial instrements.

The fair value hierarchy has the fellowing levels:

+  (Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markels for identical assats or [labililies that the entity can
access &t the measipement dats Lavel 1,

o lnputs edher than quoted prices includsd within level 1 thar gre obsarvable for the asset or Eability,
either directly or indireetly (Level 20,

+  Imputs for the assas as liakility that are unabservable inputs (Level 3),

The level i the fir valus hiscarcky within which the fair valus measurement is cateporized in its entirely
is determined on the basis of the lowsst level input that is significant to the fair valwe measurement in its
entirety. For this purposz, the significance of an inpur is asssssed againgt the fair value measurement in
its entivety. If s fair value measurement uses observable inpurs that require significant adjusiment based
o unsbservable inputs, that measurement is a level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance of 2
particular input 1o the fir value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors
specific to the nsset or liability.

The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires signi ficant judgement by the Fund, The Fund
eonsidere obsarvable data to be that market data that is readily zvailable, regularly distribuled or updated,
reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively invelved
in the ralevant marief,

The fallowing table analvzes within the fair value hierarchy the Fund®s imvestments (hy class) measured
at fair value at 31 Decsmber 2023 and 2022, All fair value measurements disclosed are recurring fir
value measurements.
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEBER 2023

4. Finanelal risk management (Continned)

(b} Fair value estimation {Continued)

At 31 December 2023
Level 1 Lewel 2 Level 3 Total
Assets UsD UsD UsD UsD
Financial asscts at fair value
through profit or loss
= Dbl s2curitics - 93,427,240 - 33,427,920
Derivative financial asscls - 560,638 - 560,638
Total asscby - 93,997,578 * 93,967,578
Liabalities
Denivative (nencial [zbilites - 1,550 - 1,559
Total liabilitics - 1,359 - 1,559
At 31 December 2022
Level1 Level 2 Leval 3 Total
Azsels Ush UsD LS usD
Financial assets at fair velue
through profiz or loss
- Drebt securities - 113,732,235 A 113,712,235
Deerivative financial assats - ST 558 - 579,558
Total assets - 114,311,743 - 18 311,793

Investments, whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified within level
1, inchuda listed derivatives. The Fund does rot sdjust the quoted price for these instruments.

Financial instruments thet trade in mavkets that are oot considered to be active but are valued based on
guoled rearket prices, decler quotations or altemative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are
classified within level 2. These inciude quoted debt securitizs and forward foreign sxchange contracts.
As lewal 2 investments inclide positions that are not traded in active markets and/or are mibject to tranafer
restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity andior non-transferability, which are
generally based on available marker information. As at 31 Desember 2023 and 2022, the Fund held
investments in guoted debt securities and forward foreign exchange contracts classified in level 2.

Investments classified within level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, 25 they trade infrequently. As
&t 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Fund did not hold any investments classified in level 3, As &t 31
Deeatiber 2023 and 2022 there ave no iransfers between levels in the fair value hisrarchy.

The sssets and liabilities ofthe Fund in the statement of financial pnsi:iuﬁ at the reporting dats, excluding
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are carricd at the amortized cost; their
carmving values are a reasonable approximation of fair value,

2
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

5. Met losses on financiol nesets at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments

2023 2022
USD UsD
Med realized losses on Gnancial assets ot fair value trough profit or
loss and derivative financial mstuments (13,262.811) (09,550,188)
et change in unrealized pringi{losses) on financial assels at fair
valus through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments 10,384,419 {11,439,969)

(2,878,302}  (31,040,157)

6. Derivative financial instroments

2023 022
ush UsD
Deerivative financizl assets
- Forward foreipn exchange contmets 369,638 379558
Tatal derivative financial assafs 569638 579,558
Drerivative Tinancizl liabilities
- Forward foreign exchange conlrmcis 1,559 -
Total derivative financial liabilities 1,559 -

The derails of forward foreign exchangs conlrects oulstanding as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are
summarized below:

AL 31 December 2023

Contract Lo deliver n exehan Satilsinens date Fair value
USD
Open coniracts:

USD 1,895,526 IPY1,725.438,300 31 Janvary 2024 417,360
USD3,878412 AUDE913,035 31 January 2024 152,278
' 569,618

USD395,236 JPY 355,401,579 31 Jarmary 2024 (716)
USD] 35,200 AUDI97,236 31 Jaruary 2024 (243}
(1.559)

- .. ]

30

118/261



EDINETOOOO
o o =<0 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

6. Derivative financial instruments (continued)

At 31 December 2922
Coptact to deliver In exchange for Settlement date
. UsD
Open contracts:
USDI14,196,541 JEY1.217,106,514 31 Janvary 2023 482,373
LIS, 650,335 AL, B89 680 31 January 2023 57,185
579558
7. Taxation

(2} The Cayman [slands

The Menager hes roceived an undertaking from the Governor in Cabinet of the Cayman 1slands that, in
teeordance with Section 81 of the Trusts Act (2011 Revision) of the Caymen Islands, for a period of 50
years frem the date of the creation of the Trust, no laws of the Cayman Islands thereafter enacted
impoaing eny 18X o duty to be levied on income of on capital assets, gains or appreciation or any tax in
the mature of sstate dety or inharitance tax will apply to any propay comprised in or income asising
urider the Trust or to the Trustee or unitholders in respect of eny such property or inceme. Mo stamp duty
is levisd in the Cayman [slands on the trensfer or redemption of units,

Although dhe Trust is not subject to tax in the Cayman Islands, the Trust may be liable for taxes which
may be withheld at source in other countries in respect of income or gains darived from fts nvestments,
Income that is subject o such tax is recognized gross of the taxes and the corresponding withholding is
recognized as tax expenss,

(¥) Hong Kong

The Fund would oniy be exposed to Hong Kong profits tax if i is not exempied under section 20AC,
20ACA, 20AM and 20A0 of the Inland Revere Ordinance.

If the Fund is not exempted under the Inland Revenue Ordinance and is regarded as carrying on a tade
or business in Hong Kong, 2 liability to profits tax, currently at the rate of [6.5% (2022: 16.3%), would
arise in respect of any profits which arise in or are derived from ong Kong and which are of revenue in
nature under the Inland Revenue Ordinancs.

o prevision for Heng Kong profits tas has been made as the directors balisves that no such tax exposure
#xisted af the year end.

k]|
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEBER 2023

8. Transactions with Refated Parties

“The following is a summary of significant related party transsctionsfransactions entered inte during the year
betweer: the Fund and the Trusiee, the Menager =nd their related partics. Related parties are those as defined
in HEAS 24 “Related party disclosures™ All ranssctions entered into during the year between the Fund and
the relsted paries were carried out in the normal course of busingss and on nommael commercial fems.

{a) [avestment management fes

The Manager is entitled to receive a management fee, currently at the rate of up to 0.6% per annum of
net asset value for all elass of units, accrved daily and payable monthly in arrears.

Far the year ended 31 December 2023, the Manager was entitled to menagement fee of USDZ38,882
(2022: USD320,857). As at 31 December 2023, 2 management fee of USDI9,614 (2022: USD24,771)
was payable to the Manager.

{b) Trostee, custody and administration fees
The Trustes is entitled 1o receive a trustes, custody and administration fess which are acerued ot each
valuation day and payabls monthly in armmears and caleulated up 1o 0.1% per annun of the net asset value
af the Fund.

Trustee, custody end administration fees are inclusive of fees payable plos out-of-pockel expenses
{including any sub-custody charges) and transaction costs.

For the years ended 31 Desember, the Trustes wes entitled o fees az follows.

023 022

Fee entitlement Fee entitlement

UsD UsD

Safe custody and processing fee 6462 695101
Trusies fees 12,000 12,00
Valuation fee 95,200 85,6040
Trensaciion handling fae 13,142 9,659
Accounting and cther professional fees 3,750 3,750
Otheér opsrating expensas 20,433 253,2H)
Total 208,987 212,080

Az at 31 December 2023, a trustes, custody and administration fees of USD16ASE (2022: USDIS042)
was pryable to the Trustes.
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MANULIFE INVESTMENTS TRUST - US CORE FIXED INCOME FUND
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

%, Transactions with Related Parties (continued)
(¢} Local liaison agent fees

The Manager has appointed Manulife Investrnent Management (Japan) Limited (MIMI"), 2 related party
of the manager, as the local liaison agent in Japan. MIMD is entitled to receive a local ifaison agent fee,
currently at the rate of up fo 0.33% per annum of the net asset value of Class A ~ Div (USD) units and
Class A — Div (AUD Hedped) umits, acensed duily and payable monthly in arrcars,

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Munulife Investment Manggement (Japen) Limited was sntitled
to loca] liaison agent fee of USDRS2,75% (2022: USD2E7,234). As at 31 December 2023, USD1S,0E]
(2022: USD23,733) was payable for lecal linison agent fee.

9. Distributions

Distrivutions to Class A = Div (JIY Hedged}, Class A — Div (JPY Unhcdged), Class A - Div (USD) and
Class A — Div (AUD Hedged) unitholders will first be paid out of the income (which may include czpital
gitins] which are recopnized in the siatement of comprehensive income, thereafter out of the capital of the
Fund aiributable to the relevant class of units of the Fund.

The distributions to Class A — Div (JPY Hedped) end Class A - Div (JPY Unhedged) unitholders were
dectared monthly and will be automelically reinvested in additional units of the sune class and were issued
at a subseription price on the reinvestment date. The distributions to Class A — Div (USD} and Class A - Div
{AUD Hedged) unitholders were declarcd semi-annuelly and were paid in cash to the unitholders,

For the year ended 31 Deeember 2023, the latest distribution rate was JPY'2 (2022 JPY7) per unit and JPYS
(2622: JPY'3) per unit, USDO.5 (2022: USDO.5) per unit and AUDO.5 (2022: AUDG.5) per unit for Class A —
Div (IPY Hedged), Class A - Div (JFY Unhedged), Class A — Div (USD) and Cless A~ Div (AUD Hedged),

respectively.
2023 22
USD LIS
Diszribwion for the vears endad 3! December
- Class A — Div (JPY Hedged) 63,982 679,715
- Class A - Div (JFY Unhedged) 358,501 489,880
- Class A - Div (US0) 916,677 1,099 468
- Cluss A — Div (AUD Hedped) 74,317 83,274
Talal disribution 2018477 2,552,337

10. Subsequent events

Up to the date of this repert, the Fuid had ro significant events afier the reparting period which needs to be
disclesed or adjusted in these financial statements.

11. Approval of financisl statements

The financial statements wers approved by the Trustee and the Manager on 26 April 2024,

kKX]
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2023 12
US TREASURY 4.375% 30/11/2030 5,489,000 102.968412 5,651,936 5.97
US TREASURY 4.125% 15/08/2053 4,075,000 101.557323 4,138,461 4.37
US TREASURY 4.75% 15/11/2043 3,311,000 107.651592 3,564,344 3.76
US TREASURY 4.5% 15/11/2033 1,968,000 105.168833 2,069,723 2.18
US TREASURY 4.375% 30/11/2028 2,006,000 102.404125 2,054,227 2.17
US TREASURY 4% 15/11/2042 1,995,000 97.602081 1,947,162 2.06
US TREASURY N/B 2.5% 15/02/2045 2,431,000 76.010613 1,847,818 1.95
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/03/2053 1,842,000 94.231381 1,735,742 1.83
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/04/2053 1,446,000 94.618878 1,368,189 1.44
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/12/2050 2,140,000 59.164238 1,266,115 1.34
FNMA 30YR JAN FRN 25/08/2043 1,105,000 94.71094 1,046,556 1.10
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/01/2048 6,250,000 16.206477 1,012,905 1.07
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/01/2052 1,320,000 75.085612 991,130 1.05
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/05/2050 1,800,000 54.458441 980,252 1.03
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/08/2052 1,036,000 92.513623 958,441 1.01
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/07/2052 986,000 87.191586 859,709 0.91
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/09/2052 900,000 89.962055 809,658 0.85
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/12/2052 800,000 93.75181 750,014 0.79
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/01/2053 690,000 96.675202 667,059 0.70
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/05/2049 2,138,000 30.318237 648,204 0.68
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/09/2037 785,000 82.345958 646,416 0.68
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/10/2052 708,000 90.901791 643,585 0.68
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/07/2053 620,000 97.052109 601,723 0.64
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/12/2049 1,350,000 41.028648 553,887 0.58
US TREASURY 3.375% 15/11/2048 614,000 87.556722 537,598 0.57
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/06/2052 601,000 87.676264 526,934 0.56
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/09/2052 569,000 91.00871 517,840 0.55
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/03/2051 646,000 78.029602 504,071 0.53
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/09/2052 535,000 91.308685 488,501 0.52
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/03/2051 801,000 59.422009 475,970 0.50
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/05/2036 758,000 62.426608 473,194 0.50
FREDDIE MAC GOLD POOL FRN 01/04/2045 2,580,000 17.604733 454,202 0.48
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/07/2052 491,000 88.67397 435,389 0.46
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/06/2036 653,000 66.557524 434,621 0.46
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/08/2052 478,000 89.090287 425,852 0.45
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/11/2052 440,000 93.003673 409,216 0.43
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/02/2053 428,000 91.190822 390,297 0.41
AERCAP IRELAND CAP/GLOBA (REG) 2.45% 29/10/2026 405,000 92.60895 375,066 0.40
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/08/2052 414,000 88.918253 368,122 0.39
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/09/2052 399,000 90.37887 360,612 0.38
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/11/2037 423,000 82.931875 350,802 0.37
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/04/2052 403,160 84.599217 341,070 0.36
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WELLS FARGO & COMPANY SER U (REG) VAR PERP

P e 341,000 99.75 340,148 0.36
BROADCOM INC (REG) 4.75% 15/04/2029 327,000 100.193289 327,632 0.35
T-MOBILE USA INC (REG) 3.875% 15/04/2030 330,000  94.8619 313,044 0.33
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/05/2052 353,000 88.086601 310,946 0.33
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/08/2052 341,000 89.822175 306,294 0.32
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/03/2033 1,075,000 28.476357 306,121 0.32
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/06/2036 376,000 81.284225 305,629 0.32
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/08/2053 316,000 95.920445 303,109 0.32
ENERGY TRANSFER OPERATNG (REG) 5.25% 15/04/2029 286,000 100.7734 288,212 0.30
GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP INC VAR 22/04/2032 341,000  83.9087 286,129 0.30
WELLS FARGO & COMPANY (SER MTN) VAR 02/06/2028 308,000 91.57745 282,059 0.30
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/04/2053 279,000 97.564003 272,204 0.29
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/01/2052 363,000 74.438152 270,210 0.29
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/05/2053 279,000 96.26489 268,579 0.28
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/07/2053 277,000 96.758007 268,020 0.28
BOEING CO 5.15% 01/05/2030 262,000 102.057258 267,390 0.28
GENERAL MOTORS FINL CO (REG) 3.6% 21/06/2030 289,000  90.8561 262,574 0.28
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/08/2053 265,000 98.602447 261,296 0.28
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/09/2050 445,000 58.715458 261,284 0.28
gz&gglggggo & COMPANY  (SER MTN) (REC) VAR 292,000 87.01685 254,089 0.27
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/08/2052 289,000 87.581728 253,111 0.27
SOCIETE GENERALE (SER 144A) VAR 10/01/2029 238,000 103.6463 246,678 0.26
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/06/2036 368,000 65.834268 242,270 0.26
BANK OF AMERICA CORP VAR 22/04/2032 286,000 84.66165 242,132 0.26
MORGAN STANLEY VAR 28/04/2026 252,000  96.0473 242,039 0.26
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/11/2037 261,000 90.831286 237,070 0.25
GENERAL MOTORS FINL CO (REG) 2.4% 15/10/2028 260,000 88.93055 231,219 0.24
ﬁgﬁRgi/gﬁiégéi ABS FUNDING 2021-1 LTD SER 1A CL A2 oo o0 oo crioe oo oo 0.2
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/06/2052 261,000 87.204264 227,603 0.24
VAR ENERGI ASA (SER 144A) 8% 15/11/2032 200,000 113.19985 226,400 0.24
CAVTOR COWIERCIAL REAL ESTATE LEDING 2019-CFL SER 55 000 g sggse 210,905 023
22}1592355 2020-1 A PTT (SER 20-1) 5.875% 328,000 65.809591 215,855 0.23
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/12/2052 230,000 93.677325 215,458 0.23
CENTENE CORP (REG) 4.625% 15/12/2029 223,000 9.5 215,195 0.23
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/10/2052 238,000 90.204506 214,687 0.23
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/12/2052 28,000 93.574402 213,350 0.23
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/09/2052 234,000 91.03307 213,017 0.22
WARNERMEDIA HOLDINGS INC (REG) 5.14 1% 15/03/2052 246,000 86.54165 212,892 0.22
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/07/2053 217,000 98.027672 212,720 0.22
NEXTERA ENERGY CAPITAL (REG) 2.25% 01/06/2030 247,000 85.68345 211,638 0.22
EXPEDIA INC SER WI (REG) 3.8% 15/02/2028 W/ 218,000  96.2132 209,745 0.22
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SABINE PASS LIQUEFACTION (REG) 4.5% 15/05/2030 209,000  97.625 204,036 0.22
SANTANDER HOLDINGS USA (REG) 3.244% 05/10/2026 214,000 94.41245 202,043 0.21
CHENIERE ENERGY PARTNERS (REG) 3.25% 31/01/2032 234,000 85.5 200,070 0.21
WINGSTOP FUNDING LLC FRN 05/12/2050 224,000 89.121499 199,632 0.21
SANTANDER HOLDINGS USA (REG) 3.45% 02/06/2025 204,000 97.07365 198,030 0.21
KRAFT HEINZ FOODS CO (REG) 4.375% 01/06/2046 225,000  87.6420 197,197 0.21
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/07/2051 244,000  80.7827 197,110 0.21
MICRON TECHNOLOGY INC (REG) 6.75% 01/11/2029 181,000 108 195,480 0.21
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/10/2049 634,923 30.749843 195,238 0.21
NATWEST MARKETS PLC (SER 144A) 1.6% 29/09/2026 211,000 91.44605 192,951 0.20
CHARTER COMM OPT LLC/CAP (REG) 4.2% 15/03/2028 199,000 96.181638 191,401 0.20
ONEOK INC 6.05% 01/09/2033 180,000 106.08315 190,950 0.20
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/09/2052 211,000 90.314292 190,563 0.20
BANK OF AVERICA CORP (REG) VAR 23/07/2029 197,000  96.7028 190,505 0.20
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/09/2052 206,000 92.465793 190,480 0.20
NXP BV/NXP FDG/NXP USA (REG) 3.875% 18/06/2026 193,000  97.4286 188,037 0.20
DB MASTER FINANCE LLC FRN 20/11/2051 208,000 88.919104 184,952 0.20
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/04/2047 470,000 39.331303 184,857 0.20
SAN DIEGO G & E 4.95% 15/08/2028 179,000 101.9143 182,427 0.19
CHARTER COMM OPT LLC/CAP (REG) 5.75% 01/04/2048 204,000  89.3382 182,250 0.19
CITIGROUP INC (REG) 4.6% 09/03/2026 184,000 98.77865 181,753 0.19
AVERICAN TOWER CORP 3.8% 15/08/2029 191,000  95.0071 181,464 0.19
ENTERPRISE PRODUCTS OPER (SER E) VAR 16/08/2077 188,000  95.8327 180,165 0.19
BOEING CO 5.04% 01/05/2027 178,000 101.134829 180,020 0.19
;;fwg}égﬁﬁiiyso MORTGAGE TRUST SER K NSQ CL C 179.000  99.3189 177,781 0.1
PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES VAR 12/06/2029 173,000 102.11065 176,651 0.19
FRESENIUS VED CARE 111 (SER 1644) (REG) 2.375% 226.000 77125 174,302 015
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/01/2050 388,000 44.87788 174,126 0.18
VISTRA CORP (SER 144A) (REG) 4.3% 15/07/2029 186,000 03.25 173,445 0.18
e o CA CORP (SER MTN) (REC) VAR 196,000  88.2168 172,905 0.18
ATHENE HOLDING LTD 3.5% 15/01/2031 195,000 88.12455 171,843 0.18
MICRON TECHNOLOGY INC (REG) 4.185% 15/02/2027 174,000 98.25 170,955 0.18
JPMORGAN CHASE & CO (REG) VAR 22/04/2031 193,000  86.45005 166,866 0.18
AES PAVAUA GENERATION HL (SER 1448) (REG) 4.315% 300 000 g5 p70ts 165,974 015
FN BM1277 FRN 01/05/2047 700,000 23.541033 164,787 0.17
Ao PARSO & CONPANY (SER NTN) (REG) VAR 183,000 88.97415 162,823 0.17
PROGRESS RESIDENTIAL TRUST SER SFRS CL A FA) 185,000 87.521035 161,914 017
CLI FUNDING VI LLC SER 1A CL A FRN 18/09/2045 272,000 59.508404 161,863 0.17
ARES CAPITAL CORP 2.15% 15/07/2026 177,000 90.99705 161,065 0.17
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/12/2052 176,000 91.507435 161,053 0.17
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MORGAN STANLEY (REG) VAR 20/04/2029 159,000 100.46 159,731 0.17
JPMORGAN CHASE & CO VAR 13/05/2031 182,000 87.73725 159,682 0.17
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/08/2049 571,000 27.744169 158,419 0.17
MARVELL TECHNOLOGY INC (REG) 5.95% 15/09/2033 148,000 106.5 157,620 0.17
DOMINOS PIZZA MASTER ISSUER LL FRN 25/07/2047 175,000 89.944537 157,403 0.17
BROADCOM INC (SER 144A) (REG) 3.419% 15/04/2033 178,000 88.265991 157,113 0.17
AKER BP ASA (SER 144A) (REG) 4% 15/01/2031 170,000 92.1396 156,637 0.17
VISTRA CORP (SER 144A) (REG) 3.7% 30/01/2027 165,000 94.875 156,544 0.17
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/08/2052 168,000 93.078603 156,372 0.17
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/12/2052 167,000 93.216246 155,671 0.16
22;3%/58;59 MORTGAGE TRUST SER C9 CL A2 FRN 166,000  92.40843 153,398 0.16
TACO BELL FUNDING LLC SER 1A CL A2l FRN 25/08/2051 172,000 88.532456 152,276 0.16
DEUTSCHE BANK NY (REG) VAR 07/01/2028 164,000 91.8835 150,689 0.16
VMWARE INC (REG) 4.7% 15/05/2030 150,000 98.87875 148,318 0.16
AMSR 2019-SFR1 TRUST 2.153% 17/06/2038 167,000 86.5075 144,468 0.15
JBS USA/FOOD/FINANCE (REG) 5.75% 01/04/2033 146,000 98.75 144,175 0.15
Egm Eg??gggOQiSETS PHASE 1 SPONSOR LLC SER 1 CL Al 164,000 87.39374 143,326 0.15
NATIONAL GRID PLC 5.809% 12/06/2033 136,000 105.09655 142,931 0.15
OCCIDENTAL PETROLEUM COR (REG) 6.45% 15/09/2036 134,000 106.375 142,543 0.15
UNITED AIR 2014-2 A PTT SER A 03/09/2026 275,000 51.742714 142,292 0.15
ENBRIDGE INC (REG) VAR 01/03/2078 153,000 92.75 141,908 0.15
CNO FINANCIAL GROUP INC (REG) 5.25% 30/05/2029 144,000 98.5 141,840 0.15
CHARTER COMM OPT LLC/CAP (REG) 6.384% 23/10/2035 139,000 101.5781 141,194 0.15
IE¢825234;NSUR & ANNUITY (REG) SER 144A 4.27% 162,000  87.13205 141,154 0.15
PROLOGIS LP 5.125% 15/01/2034 136,000 103.42845 140,663 0.15
NETFLIX INC (SER 144A) (REG) 4.875% 15/06/2030 138,000 101.25 139,725 0.15
éTB;gﬁggg;lS PWR & LIGHT (SER 144A) (REG) 5.65% 134,000 104.23905 139,680 0.15
CITIGROUP INC VAR 25/05/2034 135,000 103.362568 139,539 0.15
SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNER (REG) 5.4% 01/10/2047 148,000  93.84205 138,886 0.15
FREEPORT-MCMORAN INC (REG) 5.45% 15/03/2043 142,000 97.75 138,805 0.15
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/12/2049 580,000 23.798944 138,034 0.15
JPMORGAN CHASE & CO (REG) VAR 29/01/2027 140,000  97.85815 137,001 0.14
PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES (SER T) VAR PERP 31/12/2049 172,000 79.625 136,955 0.14
AERCAP IRELAND CAP/GLOBA (REG) 3% 29/10/2028 150,000  91.08245 136,624 0.14
JBS USA/FOOD/FINANCE (REG) 3.625% 15/01/2032 160,000 85.25 136,400 0.14
NEIGHBORLY ISSUER LLC SER 1A CL A2 FRN 30/04/2051 158,000 85.604961 135,256 0.14
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/11/2045 616,000 21.915604 135,000 0.14
Eégligsgi/ggggERCIAL MORTGAGE TRUST SER GC46 CL A2 150,000 894496 134,174 0.14
EEEU§8§S4BQEQSCENTERS ISSUER I LLC SER 1A CL A2 147,000 90.7844 133,453 0.14
CSMC 2020-NET SER NET CL A FRN 15/08/2037 150,000 88.652556 132,979 0.14
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BANK OF AVERICA CORP VAR 29/04/2031 154,000  86.1012 132,596 0.14
CSMC 2021-RPL2TRUST SER RPL2 CL AIA FRN 25/01/2060 278,000 47.628406 132,407 0.14
FRESENIUS ED CARE 111 (SER 1444) (REG) 3.75% 150,000 88.125  132.187 014
MORGAN STANLEY VAR 16/09/2036 167,000  79.1102 132,114 0.14
BANK OF AVERICA CORP VAR 08/03/2037 150,000 87.76845 131,653 0.14
FORD CREDIT AUTO OINER TRUST 2023-REV2 SER 2 CL A 129 00 10p poags 130,997 014
GENERAL MOTORS CO (REG) 5.4% 15/10/2029 128,000 101.5923 130,038 0.14
CITIZENS FINANCIAL GROUP (REG) 3.25% 30/04/2030 148,000  87.5369 129,555 0.14
FIRSTIEY HOES 2020-SFRL TRUST SER SFRLCL C RN 14 009 5o go7es 120,323 014
ONEOK INC 6.625% 01/09/2053 115,000 112.25875 129,098 0.14
UNITED AIR 2023-1 A PTT 5.8% 15/07/2036 127,000 101.39875 128,776 0.14
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/04/2047 400,000 32.152184 128,609 0.14
TIF FUNDING 11 LLC SER 1A CL A FRN 20/08/2045 194,000 66.068488 128,173 0.14
DUKE ENERGY CORP 5.75% 15/09/2033 120,000 105.9027 127,083 0.13
o 201671 A PTT SER () (REC) FRN 208,000 60.866793 126,603 0.13
SCE EQUIPUENT LEASING 2010-2 LLC SE R 24 CL C PRV 1 000 o5 ozsgp 125,485 013
DATABANK ISSUER SER 2A CL A2 FRN 25/10/2051 141,000 88.99459 125,482 0.13
DISCOVER FINANCIAL SVS (REG) 6.7% 29/11/2032 120,000 104.4342 125,321 0.13
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/06/2052 137,000 91.368954 125,175 0.13
NRG ENERGY INC (SER 144A) Th 15/03/2033 118,000 105.7331 124,765 0.13
BXHPP TRUST FRN 15/08/2036 138,000 90.19404 124,468 0.13
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/06/2050 470,000 26.375019 123,963 0.13
PILGRIM®S PRIDE CORP (REG) 6.25% 01/07/2033 120,000  103.25 123,900 0.13
CONCENTRIX CORP (REG) 6.6% 02/08/2028 120,000  102.986 123,583 0.13
NISSAN VOTOR ACCEPTANCE (SER 1448) (REG) 1.856 5700 so.orol 123,271 0.13
OWENS CORNING (REG) 3.95% 15/08/2029 129,000  95.4718 123,159 0.13
MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS INC (REG) 2.75% 24/05/2031 143,000  85.6467 122,475 0.13
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/07/2052 136,000 90.045507 122,462 0.13
BANK OF AVERICA CORP (REG) FRN 05/03/2029 128,000 95.52065 122,278 0.13
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/02/2050 180,000 67.546598 121,584 0.13
OELTA AIR LINES/SKIVILES (SER 1444) (REG) 4.75% 3102 98se2 121,369 013
N/A SER 1A CL A2 FRN 01/02/2062 130,000  93.1994 121,159 0.13
JPUORGA CHASE & CO (SER W) (REG) VAR PERP 124,000 o6 119,040 013
HOTWIRE FUNDING LLC SER 1A CL A2 FRN 20/05/2053 120,000 98.84525 118,614 0.13
COSTAR GROUP INC (SER 144A) 2.8% 15/07/2030 138,000 85.30385 117,719 0.12
BX TRUST 2022-CLS SER CLS CL A FRN 13/10/2027 117,000 100.43908 117,514 0.12
MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS INC (REG) 2.3% 15/11/2030 139,000  84.4993 117,454 0.12
UNIV OF CALIFORNIA CA RGTS MED 3.006% 15/05/2050 165,000 71.02 117,183 0.12
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SCF EQUIPMENT LEASING 2021-1 LLC SER 1A CL B FRN

507082029 122,000  95.57119 116,597 0.12
AMERISOURCEBERGEN CORP 2.8% 15/05/2030 130,000  89.67115 116,572 0.12
STARWOOD MORTGAGE RESIDENTIAL TRUST 2022-1 SER 1

oL AL FRN 25/12/2066 172,000 67.759037 116,546 0.12
AUTONATION INC 4.75% 01/06/2030 121,000  96.2663 116,482 0.12
GOLUB CAPITAL PARTNERS ABS FUNDING 2019-1 LTD SER

1A CL A2 FRN 137,000 84.311392 115,507 0.12
DUKE ENERGY CAROLINAS (REG) 4.95% 15/01/2033 113,000 102.09905 115,372 0.12
MARYLAND HLTH & HGR EDUCTNL 3.197% 01/07/2050 160,000 71.912 115,059 0.12
US BANCORP VAR 26/10/2027 110,000  104.4935 114,943 0.12
CHARLES SCHWAB CORP VAR 17/11/2029 109,000  105.0357 114,489 0.12
BLACKSTONE PRIVATE CRE (SER WI) (REG) 4%

16/0172029 W1 125,000  91.25385 114,067 0.12
J.P. MORGAN CHASE COMMERCIAL MORTGAGE SECURITIES

TRUST 2021-0P0 135,000  84.18119 113,645 0.12
SESAC FINANCE LLC SER 1 CL A2 FRN 25/07/2049 121,000 93.914415 113,636 0.12
VANTAGE DATA CENTERS LLC SER 2A CL A2 FRN

1670079045 130,000  87.21868 113,384 0.12
FIFTH THIRD BANCORP (REG) VAR 27/07/2029 109,000 103.92065 113,274 0.12
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/12/2037 134,000 84.399438 113,095 0.12
PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES VAR 18/08/2034 108,000  104.333 112,680 0.12
ABPCI DIRECT LENDING FUND ABS I LTD SER 1A CL A

FRN 20/12/2030 130,000 86.502479 112,453 0.12
FREDDIE MAC FRN 01/12/2049 270,000 41.649214 112,453 0.12
DIAMOND INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING LLC SER 1A CL A FRN

15/04/2049 126,000  88.82945 111,925 0.12
?8VEEHMENT NATIONAL HORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 40 CL | g c 000 & woei2 11117 0.12
GOVERNMENT NATIONAL WORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 137, ¢/ (00 4 sagace 110,654 0.12
CL 10 FRN

ENBRIDGE INC (SER 20-A) (REG) VAR 15/07/2079 120,000  91.96385 110,357 0.12
BEACON CONTAINER FINANCE I1 LLC SER 1A CL A

5571072046 157,000 69.795753 109,579 0.12
SABINE PASS LIQUEFACTION (REG) 5% 15/03/2027 109,000 100.5 109,545 0.12
VIATRIS INC (SER WI) (REG) 2.7% 22/06/2030 Wl 130,000 84.208 109,470 0.12
SLG OFFICE TRUST 2021-OVA SER OVA CL C FRN

16/07/2041 136,000  80.21336 109,090 0.12
ORACLE CORP (REG) 2.95% 01/04/2030 121,000  90.1441 109,074 0.12
FORD MOTOR COMPANY (REG) 3.25% 12/02/2032 131,000  82.9749 108,697 0.11
US BANCORP VAR 12/06/2034 105,000  103.3132 108,479 0.11
WESTERN MIDSTREAM OPERAT (REG) 5.3% 01/02/2030 115,000  93.8125 107,884 0.11
FREDDIE MAC FRN 01/12/2046 385,000  27.95919 107,643 0.11
ALLY FINANCIAL INC (REG) VAR 13/06/2029 105,000  102.505 107,630 0.11
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/03/2050 400,000 26.687137 106,749 0.11
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/12/2052 116,000 91.980689 106,698 0.11
MICRON TECHNOLOGY INC (REG) 5.327% 06/02/2029 104,000  102.125 106,210 0.11
TARGA RESOURCES CORP (REG) 4.95% 15/04/2052 120,000  88.29615 105,955 0.11
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SEMPRA ENERGY 5.5% 01/08/2033 102,000 103.8278 105,904 0.11
PARAMOUNT GLOBAL (REG) 4.95% 19/05/2050 129,000 81.39785 105,003 0.11
AMER AIRLINE 16-1 AA PTT SER (AA) (REG) FRN

15/01/2028 166,000 62.400033 103,584 0.11
CHARLES SCHWAB CORP VAR 19/05/2029 101,000 102.49855 103,524 0.11
METLIFE INC (REG) 6.4% 15/12/2036 99,000 102.76945 101,742 0.11
DRIVEN BRANDS FUNDING LLC SER 1A CL A2 FRN

20/10/2051 121,000 83.898222 101,517 0.11
PFIZER INVESTMENT ENTER 4.75% 19/05/2033 101,000 100.43865 101,443 0.11
AMER AIRLINE 19-1AA PTT (SER AA) (REG) 3.15%

15/08/2033 144,000 70.323402 101,266 0.11
BLACKSTONE PRIVATE CRE (SER WI) (REG) 2.35%

29/11/2024 W1 104,000 96.5966 100,460 0.11
FREEPORT-MCMORAN INC (REG) 4.25% 01/03/2030 105,000 95.125 99,881 0.11
FIRSTKEY HOMES 2020-SFR1 TRUST SER SFR1 CL A FRN

17/08/2028 112,000 89.045668 99,731 0.11
T-MOBILE USA INC 5.65% 15/01/2053 94,000 105.34365 99,023 0.10
CITIGROUP INC VAR 01/05/2032 119,000 83.173918 98,977 0.10
EVERSOURCE ENERGY (REG) 5.125% 15/05/2033 98,000  100.9062 98,888 0.10
BOOKING HOLDINGS INC 4.625% 13/04/2030 98,000  100.8075 98,791 0.10
ENERGY TRANSFER OPERATNG 5.5% 01/06/2027 97,000 101.3756 98,334 0.10
GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP INC VAR 21/10/2032 117,000  83.55345 97,758 0.10
FREDDIE MAC GOLD POOL FRN 01/09/2047 415,000 23.546212 97,717 0.10
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/07/2053 100,000 97.064602 97,065 0.10
ANHEUSER-BUSCH CO/INBEV (SER*) (REG) 4.7%

01/02/2036 97,000  99.93435 96,936 0.10
NISOURCE INC (REG) 3.6% 01/05/2030 103,000 93.6639 96,474 0.10
TRUIST FINANCIAL CORP (SER MTN) VAR 08/06/2034 94,000 102.3489 96,208 0.10
VIATRIS INC (SER WI) (REG) 4% 22/06/2050 W1 136,000 70.66385 96,103 0.10
JEFFERIES FIN GROUP INC (REG) 5.875% 21/07/2028 93,000 102.09095 94,945 0.10
DOMINO®S PIZZA MASTER ISSUER LLC SER 1A CL A2l FRN

25/04/2051 110,000 86.040903 94,645 0.10
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/10/2051 130,000 72.54184 94,304 0.10
PROGRESS RESIDENTIAL TRUST FRN 17/09/2038 105,000  89.49215 93,967 0.10
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SVCS (SER WI) (REG) 2.65%

15/10/2030 110,000 85.375 93,913 0.10
REGAL REXNORD CORP (SER 144A) 6.05% 15/02/2026 92,000 101.14015 93,049 0.10
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/01/2050 320,000 29.00578 92,818 0.10
ARES CAPITAL CORP (REG) 2.875% 15/06/2028 105,000 88.1364 92,543 0.10
DATABANK ISSUER SER 1A CL A2 FRN 27/02/2051 102,000  90.52153 92,332 0.10
NEW RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST SER 1A CL AlB

FRN 25/10/2059 250,000 36.8771 92,193 0.10
NRG ENERGY INC (SER 144A) (REG) 2.45% 02/12/2027 102,000  90.02585 91,826 0.10
TARGA RESOURCES PARTNERS 6.15% 01/03/2029 88,000 104.2643 91,753 0.10
DEUTSCHE BANK NY VAR 16/11/2027 100,000  91.48335 91,483 0.10
DRIVEN BRANDS FUNDING LLC SER 2A CL A2 FRN

20/01/2051 105,000 87.01398 91,365 0.10
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GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE A FRN 16/06/2062 2,131,000 4.271191 91,019 0.10
UNITED AIR 2019-1 A PTT SER A (REG) 4.55%

25/08/2031 141,000 64.481398 90,919 0.10
TRITON CONTAINER FINANCE VIIN LLC SER 1A CL A FRN

20/03/2046 136,000 66.514959 90,460 0.10
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/04/2053 96,000 93.348431 89,614 0.09
?8VEE“MENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 3 CL 1,880,000 4.757386 89,439 0.09
DELL INT LLC / EMC CORP (REG) 5.3% 01/10/2029 87,000 102.7568 89,398 0.09
FREDDIE MAC GOLD POOL FRN 01/11/2046 315,000 28.238387 88,951 0.09
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/06/2053 90,000 98.7016 88,831 0.09
WARNERMEDIA HOLDINGS INC (SER WI) (REG) 4.279%

15/03/2032 97,000 91.4522 88,709 0.09
GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 203 1,500,000 5.905187 88,578 0.09
CL 10 FRN

CF HIPPOLYTA LLC SER 1 CL A1l FRN 15/07/2060 106,000 83.277301 88,274 0.09
CSMC 2021-NQM6 SER NQM6 CL Al FRN 25/07/2066 161,000 54.813686 88,250 0.09
WENDY*"S FUNDING LLC SER 1A CL A2l FRN 15/06/2051 109,000 80.949046 88,234 0.09
SANTANDER HOLDINGS USA (REG) VAR 06/01/2028 96,000 91.5455 87,884 0.09
TARGA RESOURCES PARTNERS (REG) 4% 15/01/2032 96,000 91.5 87,840 0.09
CF HIPPOLYTA LLC SER 1A CL A1l FRN 15/03/2061 104,000 84.441359 87,819 0.09

SMB PRIVATE EDUCATION LOAN TRUST 20 19-B SER B CL

A2A FRN 15/06/2037 210,000 41.769931 87,717 0.09
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/01/2050 305,000 28.533879 87,028 0.09
AMER AIRLINE 17-1 AA PTT SER (AA) (REG) FRN

15/08/2030 137,000 63.501251 86,997 0.09
SONIC CAPITAL LLC SER 1A CL A2l FRN 20/08/2051 104,000 83.430798 86,768 0.09
NATIONAL RURAL UTIL COOP (SER MTN) (REG) 5.6%

13/11/2026 84,000 102.76 86,318 0.09
SBL HOLDINGS INC (SER 144A) 5% 18/02/2031 104,000 82.28955 85,581 0.09
AMERICAN TOWER TRUST 1 5.49% 15/03/2028 84,000 101.62222 85,363 0.09
AIR LEASE CORP 3.625% 01/12/2027 90,000  94.84235 85,358 0.09
CVS HEALTH CORP (REG) 5.05% 25/03/2048 91,000 93.6011 85,177 0.09
HOTWIRE FUNDING LLC SER 2021-1 CL A 2 20/11/2051 94,000  90.45966 85,032 0.09
NAVIENT PRIVATE EDUCATION REFI LOAN TRUST 2020-H

SER HA CL A RN 335,000 25.306754 84,778 0.09
PROVIDENT FUNDING MORTGAGE TRUST 2020-F1 SER F1 CL

A2 ERN 25/01/2036 207,000 40.932479 84,730 0.09
SONIC CAPITAL LLC SER 1A CL A2l FRN 20/01/2050 93,000 90.320909 83,998 0.09
LAZARD GROUP LLC (REG) 4.375% 11/03/2029 87,000 96.1819 83,678 0.09
SABINE PASS LIQUEFACTION (REG) 4.2% 15/03/2028 85,000 97.935 83,245 0.09
FOOTHILL ESTRN TRANSPRTN CORRI 4.094% 15/01/2049 99,000 83.867 83,028 0.09
TIF FUNDING Il LLC SER 1A CL A FRN 20/02/2046 126,000 65.769814 82,870 0.09
VERUS SECURITIZATION TRUST SER 3 CL Al FRN

25/06/2066 207,000  39.96586 82,729 0.09
REGAL REXNORD CORP (SER 144A) 6.4% 15/04/2033 79,000 104.3299 82,421 0.09
METRONET INFRASTRUCTURE ISSUER LLC SER 1A CL A2 83,000 98.39619 81,669 0.09

FRN 20/04/2053
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VR FUNDING LLC FRN 15/11/2050 141,000 57.742593 81,417 0.09
PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP SER R VAR PERP 81,000 100.375 81,304 0.09
WILLIAMS COMPANIES INC (REG) 4.65% 15/08/2032 83,000 97.753 81,135 0.09
BLACKSTONE PRIVATE CRE (SER WI) (REG) 2.7%

15/01/2025 84,000 96.482 81,045 0.09
GCAT SER NQM3 CL Al FRN 25/05/2066 194,000 41.428371 80,371 0.08
BOEING CO (REG) 3.2% 01/03/2029 86,000 93.298788 80,237 0.08
CVS HEALTH CORP 3.75% 01/04/2030 85,000 94.26135 80,122 0.08
KINDER MORGAN ENER PART (REG) 7.75% 15/03/2032 69,000 114.14585 78,761 0.08
MORGAN STANLEY VAR 20/07/2029 77,000 101.5353 78,182 0.08
MPLX LP 4.95% 01/09/2032 79,000 98.1104 77,507 0.08
CLI FUNDING LLC SER 1A CL A FRN 18/02/2046 125,000 61.918748 77,398 0.08
TRICON AMERICAN HOMES 2020-SFR2 TRUST SER SFR2 CL

A ERN 17/11/2039 103,000 75.023161 77,274 0.08
ONSLOW BAY MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST SER NQM2 CL Al FRN

25/05/2061 170,000 45.285188 76,985 0.08
GOLDEN ST TOBACCO SECURITIZATI 4.214% 01/06/2050 101,000 75.9773 76,737 0.08
?8VEE“MENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 53 CL 1,413,000 5.363882 75.792 0.08
N/A SER INV1 CL Al FRN 25/06/2026 134,000 56.466034 75,664 0.08
VICI PROPERTIES / NOTE (SER 144A) (REG) 4.625%

01/12/2029 80,000 94.125 75,300 0.08
COMM 2020-CX MORTGAGE TRUST SER CX CL D FRN

10/11/2046 100,000  75.19799 75,198 0.08
VISIO 2020-1R TRUST SER 1R CL Al FRN 25/11/2055 360,000 20.841408 75,029 0.08
JETBLUE 2019-1 CLASS AA (SER AA) (REG) 2.75%

15/05/2032 108,000 68.729619 74,228 0.08
TRITON CONTAINER FINANCE VIII LLC SER 1A CL A FRN

20/09/2045 115,000 64.473068 74,144 0.08
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/07/2049 100,000 74.006995 74,007 0.08
GEORGIA POWER CO 4.95% 17/05/2033 73,000 101.3285 73,970 0.08
HUNTINGTON BANCSHARES VAR 21/08/2029 72,000 102.7167 73,956 0.08
BENCHMARK 2018-B1 MORTGAGE TRUST SER B12 CL A2 FRN

15/08/2052 93,000  79.33505 73,782 0.08
APPLEBEE"S FUNDING LLC / IHOP FUNDING LLC SER 1A 71,000 103.71428 73,637 0.08
CL A2 FRN

KRAFT FOODS GROUP INC (REG) 5% 04/06/2042 76,000 96.6651 73,465 0.08
ENERGY TRANSFER LP (REG) 4.2% 15/04/2027 75,000 97.3797 73,035 0.08
AMER AIRLINE 21-1A EETC (REG) 2.875% 11/07/2034 87,000 83.9335 73,022 0.08
NRG ENERGY INC (SER 144A) (REG) 4.45% 15/06/2029 77,000 94375 72,669 0.08
MPLX LP 5% 01/03/2033 74,000  98.10655 72,599 0.08
MORGAN STANLEY (SER GMTN) (REG) VAR 21/07/2032 88,000 81.3762 71,611 0.08
BARCLAYS COMMERCIAL MORTGAGE S SER SRCH CL D VAR

10/08/2035 100,000 71.4593 71,459 0.08
VERUS SECURITIZATION TRUST 2021-5 SER 5 CL Al FRN

25/09/2066 129,000 55.347675 71,398 0.08
VERISIGN INC (REG) 2.7% 15/06/2031 83,000 86 71,380 0.08
MICRON TECHNOLOGY INC (REG) 2.703% 15/04/2032 85,000 83.937 71,346 0.08
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TRUIST FINANCIAL CORP (SER MTN) VAR 30/10/2029 66,000  108.0459 71,310 0.08
MPLX LP (SER WI) (REG) 4.25% 01/12/2027 73,000  97.65535 71,288 0.08
SERVPRO MASTER ISSUER LLC SER 1A CL A2 FRN

S5 10472051 85,000  83.31102 70,814 0.07
CSMC 2021-NQM2 SER NQM2 CL Al FRN 25/02/2066 205,000 34.233412 70,178 0.07
DOMINION ENERGY INC (SER C) 3.375% 01/04/2030 76,000  92.2608 70,118 0.07
ARES CAPITAL CORP (REG) 3.25% 15/07/2025 72,000  95.60115 68,833 0.07
ELLINGTON FINANCIAL MORTGAGE TRUST 2017-1 SER 2 CL

AL ERN 25/06/2066 153,000 44.686352 68,370 0.07
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/11/2037 80,000 85.219412 68,176 0.07
NISSAN MOTOR ACCEPTANCE (SER 144A) (REG) 2%

09/03/2026 74,000  91.9611 68,051 0.07
CONTINENTAL RESOURCES (REG) 4.9% 01/06/2044 84,000 80.875 67,935 0.07
UNITED AIR 2020-1 B PTT 4.875% 15/01/2026 115,000 59.024852 67,879 0.07
BBCMS TRUST SER C6 CL A2 FRN 15/02/2053 74,000  91.65444 67,824 0.07
AUTODESK INC (REG) 2.85% 15/01/2030 74,000  90.22565 66,767 0.07
ARROYO MORTGAGE TRUST 2021-1R SER 1R CL AL FRN

o5 710/2048 171,000  39.00597 66,700 0.07
JBS USA/FOOD/FINANCE (REG) 5.125% 01/02/2028 67,000 99.125 66,414 0.07
CONSTELLATION EN GEN LLC 6.5% 01/10/2053 58,000 113.01215 65,547 0.07
ENBRIDGE INC VAR 15/01/2084 61,000 106.55255 64,997 0.07
CHENIERE ENERGY PARTNERS (REG) 4.5% 01/10/2029 67,000 95.875 64,236 0.07
DOMINO*S P1ZZA MASTER ISSUER LLC SE R 1A CL A2 FRN

25/10/2049 73,000 87.472019 63,855 0.07
THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC (REG) 4.977% 10/08/2030 62,000 102.5801 63,600 0.07
SOUTHERN CO 5.7% 15/03/2034 60,000 105.43695 63,262 0.07
MICRON TECHNOLOGY INC (REG) 4.975% 06/02/2026 63,000 100.25 63,157 0.07
COLUMBIA PIPELINES OPCO (SER 144A) 6.036%

15/11/2033 60,000 105.08135 63,049 0.07
ESVEEHMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 11 CL | 1,0 (oo ¢ cozag 62.773 0.07
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/11/2049 175,000  35.45466 62,046 0.07
TOWD POINT MORTGAGE TRUST 2019-1 SER 1 CL AL FRN

25 /03/2058 183,000 33.221293 60,795 0.06
BENCHMARK 2019-B13 MORTGAGE TRUST SER B13 CL A2

ERN 15/08/2057 65,000  93.24877 60,612 0.06
CREDIT SUISSE MORTGAGE CAPITAL CERTIFICATES SER

NONS CL AL FRN 119,000 50.112091 59,633 0.06
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/12/2047 165,000 36.122748 59,603 0.06
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/10/2049 143,000 41.180576 58,888 0.06
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/12/2052 62,000 93.979601 58,267 0.06
CSMC 2021-NQM3 SER NQM3 CL Al FRN 25/04/2066 147,000 39.291332 57,758 0.06
GLP CAPITAL LP / FIN 11 (REG) 4% 15/01/2030 63,000  91.5267 57,662 0.06
BRITISH AIR 20-1 B PTT (SER 144A) (REG) 8.375%

15/11 79028 141,000 40.846219 57,593 0.06
VCP RRL ABS I LTD 2021 SER 1A CL A FRN 20/10/2031 100,000 57.539147 57,539 0.06
ALIGNED DATA CENTERS ISSUER LLC SER 1A CL A2 FRN

1£/08/2045 64,000 89.84453 57,500 0.06
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GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE A SER 35 CL 10 VAR

01/12/2062 1,090,000
GLP CAPITAL LP / FIN 11 (REG) 3.25% 15/01/2032 68,000
OCCIDENTAL PETROLEUM COR (REG) 6.625% 01/09/2030 53,000
AMERICAN HOMES 4 RENT (REG) 4.25% 15/02/2028 58,000
HUNTINGTON INGALLS INDUS (SER WI) (REG) 4.2% 59,000
01/05/2030 (WHEN ISSUED) ’
PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES (SER W) VAR PERP 31/12/2049 60,000
NAVIENT PRIVATE EDUCATION REFI LOAN TRUST 2021-A 169.000
SER A CL A FRN ’
TAPESTRY INC 7.7% 27/11/2030 53,000
ALASKA AIR 2020-1 CL B (SER 144A) (REG) 8% 119000
15/08/2025 :
SWB PRIVATE EDUCATION LOAN TRUST SER A CL APT2 FRN o1 oo
15/01/2053 :
QORVO INC (SER 144A) (REG) 3.375% 01/04/2031 64,000
AIR LEASE CORP (REG) 2.1% 01/09/2028 63,000
GOLUB CAPITAL PARTNERS ABS FUNDING 2020-1 LTD SER 0 oo
1A CL A2 FRN ’
HOME PARTNERS OF AMERICA 2021-2 TRUST SER 2 CL A 68.000
FRN 17/12/2026 ’
STARVEST EMERGING MARKETS CBO I SER 2 CL ALl FRN 209,000
25/05/2065 Y
NEIGHBORLY ISSUER 2022-1 SER 1A CL A2 FRN 64.000
30/01/2052 ’
GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 17 CL

900,000
10 FRN
AIR LEASE CORP (SER MTN) (REG) 2.875% 15/01/2026 55,000
WARNERMEDIA HOLDINGS INC (REG) 5.05% 15/03/2042 59,000
M&T BANK CORPORATION SER F (REG) VAR PERP 60,000
FLORIDA ST BRD OF ADMIN FIN CO 1.705% 01/07/2027 57,000
GOVERNVENT NATIONAL NORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SE 169 CL 4 goc o
10 FRN
COREBRIDGE FINANCIAL INC (REG) VAR 15/12/2052 51,000
ZAXBY'S FUNDING LLC SER 1A CL A2 FRN 30/07/2051 60,000
VICI PROPERTIES LP 4.375% 15/05/2025 52,000
BX 2021-MFM1 SER MFM1 CL D FRN 15/01/2034 68,000
NAVIENT STUDENT LOAN TRUST 2020-2 SER 2A CL A1A 100.000
FRN 26/08/2069 ’
ENERGY TRANSFER PARTNERS (REG) 5.15% 15/03/2045 55,000
ONEOK INC (REG) 5.65% 01/11/2028 48,000
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/04/2052 63,000
GCAT 2021-NQM2 TRUST SER NQM2 CL Al FRN 25/05/2066 117,000
AMER AIRLINE 17-2 A PTT SER (A) (REG) FRN 29.000
15/04/2031 ’
SBA TOWER TRUST (SER 144A) (REG) 6. 559% 47,000
15/11/2052 ’
JACK IN THE BOX FUNDING LLC SER 1A CL A23 FRN 55 000
25/08/2049 ’
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VERUS SECURITIZATION TRUST SER R2 CL Al FRN

25/02/2064 172,000 27.363201 47,065 0.05
IMPERIAL FUND MORTGAGE TRUST SER NQM1 CL Al FRN

25/06/2056 115,000 40.494205 46,568 0.05
NAVIENT PRIVATE EDUCATION REFI LOAN TRUST 2020-G

SER GA CL A FRN 200,000 23.191304 46,383 0.05
MORGAN STANLEY (REG) VAR 01/02/2029 46,000 100.6908 46,318 0.05
AMGEN INC 5.25% 02/03/2030 45,000 102.842 46,279 0.05
CNA FINANCIAL CORP (REG) 2.05% 15/08/2030 55,000  83.43605 45,890 0.05
GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 163 884,994 5.181186 45,853 0.05
CL 10 FRN

TAPESTRY INC 7.85% 27/11/2033 43,000 106.6194 45,846 0.05
AMER AIRLINE 16-1 A PTT SER (A) (REG) FRN

15/07/2029 75,000 60.914406 45,686 0.05
GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 170 940,000 4.81359 45,248 0.05
CL 10 FRN

GCAT 2021-NQM1 TRUST SER NQM1 CL A1l FRN 25/01/2066 178,000 25.415214 45,239 0.05
HYUNDAI CAPITAL AMERICA (SER 144A) (REG) 2.375%

15/10/2027 50,000 90.0385 45,019 0.05
JACK IN THE BOX FUNDING LLC SER 1A CL A2l FRN

26/02/2052 50,000 89.919028 44,960 0.05
ROYALTY PHARMA PLC (SER WI) (REG) 1 .75%

02/09/2027 50,000 89.6891 44,845 0.05
AQUA FINANCE TRUST 2017-A SER A CL A FRN

17/07/2046 106,000 42.176185 44,707 0.05
MPLX LP (REG) 4.125% 01/03/2027 45,000 97.9969 44,099 0.05
BRAVO RESIDENTIAL FUNDING TRUST 2021-NQM1 SER NQM1 136,000 32.264315 43,879 0.05
CL A1 FRN

AMERICAN ELECTRIC POWER (REG) 5.625% 01/03/2033 42,000 104.4505 43,869 0.05
?8VEE“MENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 10 CL 735,000 5.941659 43,671 0.05
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/04/2048 175,000 24.910597 43,594 0.05
GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 110 712,000  5.995818 42,690 0.05
CL 10 FRN

OVINTIV INC 6.25% 15/07/2033 41,000 103.46655 42,421 0.04
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/09/2049 82,000 51.562111 42,281 0.04
OVINTIV INC (REG) 5.65% 15/05/2028 41,000 101.86905 41,766 0.04
BRE GRAND ISLANDER TIMESHARE ISSUER 2019-A LLC SER

A CL A FRN 26/09/2033 149,000 27.657335 41,209 0.04
COLUMBIA PIPELINES OPCO (SER 144A) 5.927%

15/08/2030 39,000 103.7925 40,479 0.04
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/11/2049 78,000 51.820015 40,420 0.04
LKQ CORP (REG) 5.75% 15/06/2028 40,000 100.93975 40,376 0.04
MFA 2021-NQM1 TRUST SER NQM1 CL Al FRN 25/04/2065 179,000 22.05434 39,477 0.04
VIACOM INC (REG) 4.375% 15/03/2043 53,000  74.32905 39,394 0.04
ANGEL OAK MORTGAGE TRUST 2021-2 SER 2 CL Al FRN

25/04/2066 124,000  31.75475 39,376 0.04
DISCOVER FINANCIAL SVS (REG) 4.1% 09/02/2027 41,000 96.0283 39,372 0.04
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/09/2049 195,000 20.106018 39,207 0.04
DUKE ENERGY CORP (REG) 2.45% 01/06/2030 44,000 88.63405 38,999 0.04
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GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 118

CcL 10 FRN 1,163,000 3.323756 38,655 0.04
DRIVEN BRANDS FUNDING LLC SER 1A CL A2 FRN

20/04/2048 41,000 94.249329 38,642 0.04
AIR CANADA 2017-1B PTT (SER 144A) (REG) 3.7%

15/01/2026 78,000 48.342517 37,707 0.04
AMER AIRLINE 17-1 A PTT SER (A) (REG) FRN

15/08/2030 61,000 61.626656 37,592 0.04
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/12/2049 94,000 39.364586 37,003 0.04
ANGEL OAK MORTGAGE TRUST 2020-R1 SER R1 CL Al FRN

25/04/2053 209,000 17.652333 36,893 0.04
CONSTELLATION EN GEN LLC 6.125% 15/01/2034 34,000 107.67585 36,610 0.04
VICI PROPERTIES / NOTE (SER 144A) (REG) 4.125%

15/08/2030 40,000 91.25 36,500 0.04
BRITISH AIR 20-1 A PPT (SER 144A) (REG) 4.25%

15/11/2032 77,000 46.598782 35,881 0.04
NISOURCE INC 1.7% 15/02/2031 44,000 81.4128 35,822 0.04
UNITED AIR 2016-1 B PTT (REG) 07/01/2026 72,000 49.376627 35,551 0.04
GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 183 597,000 5.868419 35,034 0.04
CL 10 FRN

MISSISSIPPI ST HOSP EQUIPMENT 3.72% 01/09/2026 36,000 96.631 34,787 0.04
SANTANDER HOLDINGS USA (REG) 4.4% 13/07/2027 35,000 97.2522 34,038 0.04
BLACKSTONE PRIVATE CRE (SER WI) (REG) 3.25%

15/03/2027 Wi 34,000 90.9788 30,933 0.03
NAVIENT PRIVATE EDUCATION REFI LOAN TRUST 2019-F

SER FA CL A2 FRN 15/08/2068 100,000 30.791817 30,792 0.03
VICI PROPERTIES LP 5.125% 15/05/2032 31,000 97.4132 30,198 0.03
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/12/2045 115,000 26.228551 30,163 0.03
WESTERN MIDSTREAM OPERAT (REG) 6.15% 01/04/2033 29,000 104 30,160 0.03
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/11/2049 85,000 35.393929 30,085 0.03
GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 181

CL 10 FRN 16/07/2064 395,000 7.303343 28,848 0.03
NEWMONT GOLDCORP CORP (REG) 2.8% 01/10/2029 31,000 91.63385 28,406 0.03
PARAMOUNT GLOBAL (REG) 4.2% 19/05/2032 31,000 89.16725 27,642 0.03
NISOURCE INC (REG) 5.25% 30/03/2028 27,000 102.2227 27,600 0.03
CVS HEALTH CORP (REG) 5.25% 30/01/2031 26,000 102.15045 26,559 0.03
MORGAN STANLEY (SER GMTN) (REG) VAR 23/01/2030 27,000 97.58215 26,347 0.03
OHIO ST TURNPIKE COMMISSION 3.216% 15/02/2048 35,000 75.18 26,313 0.03
FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/10/2049 75,000 34.867355 26,151 0.03
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/01/2049 36,000 70.135446 25,249 0.03
OVINTIV INC (REG) 7.2% 01/11/2031 23,000 109.19435 25,115 0.03
VERUS SECURITIZATION TRUST 2020-5 SER 5 CL Al FRN

(STP) 25/05/2065 100,000 23.995899 23,996 0.03
ELARA HGV TIMESHARE ISSUER 2019-A L LC SER A CL A

FRN 25/01/2034 100,000 23.974929 23,975 0.03
BRITISH AIR 18-1 A PTT (SER 144A) (REG) 4.125%

20/09/2031 41,000 58.286927 23,898 0.03
INGERSOLL RAND INC (REG) 5.4% 14/08/2028 23,000 103.1511 23,725 0.03
FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/11/2048 90,970 25.888803 23,551 0.02
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GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 21 CL

10 FRY 405,000  5.649297 22,880 0.02

FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/09/2049 155,000 14.393151 22,309 0.02

AMER AIRLINE 21-1B PTT (SER B) (REG) 3.95%

1170772030 24,000 80.472983 19,314 0.02

PNC FINANCIAL SERVICES (REG) 3.15% 19/05/2027 20,000  95.0425 19,009 0.02

FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/10/2049 91,000  18.99017 17,281 0.02

AMER AIRLINE 19-1A PTT (SER A) (REG) 3.5%

1570872033 25,000  68.45699 17,114 0.02

OWENS CORNING (REG) 3.875% 01/06/2030 18,000  94.0111 16,922 0.02

FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/10/2048 70,000 21.121168 14,785 0.02

FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/12/2048 53,000 26.772084 14,189 0.01

FANNIE MAE POOL FRN 01/06/2052 17,000 82.957523 14,103 0.01

FREDDIE MAC POOL FRN 01/05/2052 17,000 79.069016 13,442 0.01

GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 158 409,000  2.213265 0052 0.01

CL 10 VAR

GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE A SER 43 CL 10 FRN

16/05/2060 670,000 1.350174 9,046 0.01

GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE A SER 9 CL 10 FRN

16/01/2060 630,000  1.40393 8,845 0.01

COMM MORTGAGE TRUST SER COR3 CL XA FRN 10/05/2051 579,000 1.511852 8,754 0.01

GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE A FRN 16/02/2062 185,000  4.654095 8,610 0.01

UNITED AIR 2018-1 B PTT SER B (REG) 4.6%

01/03/2026 17,000 50.065347 8,511 0.01

GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 100 166.967  4.24385 7086 0.01

CL 10 FRN

GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE A SER 69 CL 10 FRN

16/04/2060 565,000  1.24559 7,038 0.01

GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE A SER 35 CL 10 FRN

16/03/2060 435,000  1.605228 6,983 0.01

GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 131 241,000  2.724097 6,565 0.01

CL 10 FRN

GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 99 CL

10 RN 16/06/2060 755,000  0.864765 6,529 0.01

fgvsigMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SE 20 CL g0 (oo 0.7214 6,204 0.01

GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 119 175.000  3.395171 5 042 0.01

CL 10 FRN

?8V5§QMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION SER 41 CL oo oo c1sse 3,256 0.00

GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE A SER 114 CL 10 VAR

16/04/2060 520,000 0.554196 2,882 0.00
94,749,522
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2023 12

90,401,773 95.41
511,690 0.54
476,128 0.50
383,037 0.40
380,727 0.40
346,475 0.37
246,678 0.26
242,172 0.26
171,843 0.18
165,974 0.18
101,443 0.11

94,749,522
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2024
79,597,433 12,488,837
211,253 33,146
79,386,180 12,455,692
730,554
51,429
81.81 12,836
81.76 8,418
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HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited
2 3 17
17/F Tower 2 & 3, HSBC Centre , 1 Shum Mong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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2024 2,409 48,300
2,054,961,936 301,000,000
763 15,298
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2023 12 31
2023 2022
8 21,150,904 424,076 21,613,879 433,358
10,27 81,051,712 1,625,087 76,798,715 1,539,814
22 9,203,163 184,523 18,406,327 369,047
11 332,540,750 6,667,442 414,540,750 8,311,542
12 1,333,723,786 26,741,162 1,356,123,786 27,190,282
13 9,803,258 196,555 - -
14 121,911,254 2,444,321 - -

1,909,384,827 38,283,166  1,887,483,457 37,844,043

15 99,200,632 1,988,973 92,848,434 1,861,611
16 2,013,122 40,363 3,526,052 70,697
17 78,497,575 1,573,876 37,519,397 752,264
18 117,876,274 2,363,419 108,661,231 2,178,658
19 440,764,116 8,837,321 456,658,957 9,156,012

738,351,719 14,803,952 699,214,071 14,019,242

20 126,251,428 2,531,341 113,214,150 2,269,944
21 278,427,785 5,582,477 250,760,423 5,027,746
22 9,339,617 187,259 9,202,492 184,510
17 183,517,433 3,679,525 281,632,997 5,646,742

597,536,263 11,980,602 654,810,062 13,128,942

140,815,456 2,823,350 44,404,009 890,300
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22 - - 9,339,617 187,259

2,050,200,283 41,106,516  1,922,547,849 38,547,084

23 2,409,408,436 48,308,639  2,409,408,436 48,308,639
24 8,494,616 170,317 8,405,636 168,533

(367,702,769)  (7,372,441)  (495,266,223)  (9,930,088)

2,050,200,283 41,106,516  1,922,547,849 38,547,084
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2023 12 31
2023 2022

851,119,613 17,064,948 803,656,902 16,113,321
114,917,350 2,304,093 117,839,207 2,362,676
25,357,823 508,424 - -
(2,757,823) (55,294)  (71,632,000) (1,436,222)
(82,000,000) (1,644,100) - -
(32,877,975) (659,203)  (32,147,166) (644,551)
(450,540, 955) (9,033,346)  (569,583,241)  (11,420,144)
(417,359, 453) (8,368,057)  (380,986,069) (7,638,771)
(206, 380) (4,138) (341,491) (6,847)
5,652,200 113,327  (133,193,858) (2,670,537)
121,911,254 2,444,321 - -
127,563,454 2,557,647  (133,193,858) (2,670,537)
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2023 12 31
2,782,993,436 55,799,018 8,233,917 165,090 (362,072,365) (7,259,551) 2,429,154,988 48,704,558
57,997,000 1,162,840 - - - - 57,997,000 1,162,840
(431,582,000) (8,653,219) - - - - (431,582,000) (8,653,219)
- - 171,719 3,443 - - 171,719 3,443
- - - - (133,193,858) (2,670,537)  (133,193,858) (2,670,537)
2,409,408,436 48,308,639 8,405,636 168,533 (495,266,223) (9,930,088) 1,922,547,849 38,547,084
- - 88,980 1,784 - - 88,980 1,784
- - - - 127,563,454 2,557,647 127,563,454 2,557,647
2,409,408,436 48,308,639 8,494,616 170,317 (367,702,769) (7,372,441) 2,050,200,283 41,106,516
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2023 12 31

2023 2022
5,652,200 113,327 (133,193, 858) (2,670,537)
4 (3,462,032) (69,414) (1,729,987) (34,686)
5, 22 206,380 4,138 341,491 6,847
5, 22 9,203,164 184,523 9,203,163 184,523
5,8 3,718,731 74,561 _ -
24 88,980 1,784 171,719 3,443
5,12 (25,357,823) (508,424) - -
12 2,757,823 55,294 71,632,000 1,436,222
11 82,000,000 1,644,100 - -
74,807,423 1,499,889 (53,575,472) (1,074,188)
(4,252,997) (85,273) 6,508,995 130,505
(6,352,198) (127,362) 21,234,213 425,746
1,512,930 30,334 647,678,360 12,985,951
(40,978,178) (821,612) 58,601,885 1,174,968
(9,215,043) (184,762) (3,773,370) (75,656)
13,037,278 261,397 2.384,178 47,803
27,667,362 554,731 (55,893,675) (1,120,668)
(98,115,564) (1,967,217) 72.248.368 1,448,580
- - (7,697,615) (154,337)
(41,888,987) (839,874) 687,715,867 13,788,703
3,462,032 69,414 1,729,987 34,686
(206,380) (4,138) (341,491) (6,847)
(38,633,335) (774,598) 689,104,363 13,816,542
8 (3,255,756) (65,278) (13,651,035) (273,703)
35,196,742 705,695 - -
- - (23,809,440) (477,379)
12 - - (268,619,970) (5,385,830)
31,940,986 640,417 (306,080,445) (6,136,913)

146/261



23
23

19

EDINETOOOO
o o =<0 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

- - 57,997,000 1,162,840

- - (431,582,000) (8,653,219)
(9,202,492) (184,510) (9,067,381) (181,801)
(9,202,492) (184,510) (382,652,381) (7,672,180)
(15,894,841) (318,692) 371,537 7,449
456,658,957 9,156,012 456,287,420 9,148,563
440,764,116 8,837,321 456,658,957 9,156,012
440,764,116 8,837,321 456,658,957 9,156,012
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25

22
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2023

1,560,054,763
(714,891,157)

2022

1,478,907,868
(675,250, 966)

5,956,007 -
851,119,613 803,656,902
2,743,720 -
114,886,329 130,030,762
1,769 (14,604,099)
3,462,032 899,570
- 830,417
(6,176,500) 682,557
114,917,350 117,839,207
966,036,963 921,496,109
2023 2022
408,345,055 519,256,246
12,864,525 18,623,943
29,331,375 31,703,052
328,005,185 216,458,627
23,469,103 22,944,003
9,203,164 9,203,163
437,220 406,678
206,380 341,491
2,757,823 71,632,000
(25,357,823) -
3,718,731 -
82,000,000 -
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12 31
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2023 2022
21,207,028 29,414,293
21,207,028 29,414,293
2023 2022
% %
5,652,200 (133,193, 858)

932,613 16.5 (21,976,986) 16.5
(5,207,985)  (92.1) (285,435) 0.2
14,865,311 263.0 10,733,686 (8.1)

- - 11,528,735 8.7
(10,589,939)  (187.4) - -
(121,911,254) (2,156.9) - -
(121,911,254) (2,156.9) _ -
2023 2022

21,613,879 7,962,844

3,255,756 13,651,035

(3,718,731) -

21,150,904 21,613,879
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2,343,513 2,343,513
(2,343,513) (2,343,513)
2,343,513 2,343,513
(2,343,513) (2,343,513)

2023 2022
825,000 825,000
560,000 560,000

79,666,712 75,413,715
81,051,712 76,798,715
2023 2022
414,540,750 414,540,750
(82,000,000) -
332,540, 750 414,540, 750
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349,500,000 100
13,374,989 100
100,000 100
4,753,378 2022 5,804,065
122,827,305 2022 127,580,683
16,878,820 2022 11,897,510
78,731,223 2022 61,852,403
31
2023 12 31 82.0
82.0 022 : )
2023 2022
1,356,123,786 1,159,135,816
- 268,619,970
(9,838,919) -
(9,803,258) -
(2,757,823) (71,632,000)
1,333,723,786 1,356,123, 786
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49 - 49
49 100 49
35 - 35
(
26.8
7,440,000
33,802,376 35,196,742
2023

1,230,273,578
259,246,942
355,202,689
58,599,749
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2023
25,357,823
2.76
2022

1,202,669,571
271,955,155
353,573,354
34,464,449
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15.

738,856,086
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2023

2023

125,619,350
26,482,567
29,542,833

2022 803,037,535

121,911,254

2023

90,090,606

1,643,654
6,801,215
665,157
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2022

85,558,327
5,495,870
(28,796,120)

2022

114,417,108
38,712,265
54,379,619

121,911,254

121,911,254

2022

86,157,536

4,552,919
2,137,979

99,200,632

92,848,434
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)
)
2022
2023 12 31
2023 2022 12 31
16.
2023 2022
2,013,122 3,526,052
2,013,122 3,526,052
17.
2023 2022
- - 19,400,623
- 608,676 295,808
- 77,858,177 17,822,966
- 30,722 -
78,497,575 37,519,397
- 86,270,704 122,277,879
- 7,033,221 11,774,114
- 68,350,828 147,572,321
- - 8,683
- 21,862,680 -
183,517,433 281,632,997
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2023

117,876,274
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2022

108,661,231

2023

440,833,831
(69,715)

2022

456,658,957

440,764,116

456,658,957

2023

92,745,669
33,505,759

2022

106,224,872
6,989,278

126,251,428

113,214,150

2023

67,434
173,949,098
2,722,434
101,688,819

2022

109,518
174,689,685
3,196,716
72,764,504

278,427,785

250,760,423

2022 3,668,526
474,282 2022 471,810
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206,380
9,203,164
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27,609,490
(9,203,163)

18,406,327
(9,203,164)

9,203,163

27,609,490
341,491
(9,408,872)

18,542,109
206,380
(9,408,872)

9,339,617

9,339,617

2022

341,491
9,203,163

9,409,544

9,544,654

1.5 2022 1.5
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2,054,961,936

2022 2,054,961,936

301,000,000

2022 301,000,000

2022

2022
2023
2023

12 31

12 31

a) 2022
57,997,000

b) 2022 18
431,582,000
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2023

2,108,408,436

301,000,000

2022

2,108,408,436

301,000,000

2,409,408,436

2,409,408,436

2,428,546,936 2,481,993,436 2,481,993, 436
57,997,000 57,997,000 57,997,000
(431,582,000) (431,582,000) (431,582,000)
2,054,961,936 2,108,408,436 2,108,408, 436
2022 10 57,997,000
2022 10 431,582,000
10
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2023
22.16
22.11
31 24 .38
2032
2032
2031
27 2030 27
28 2029 28
23 2026 23
24 2025 24
25 2024 25
2023 12 31 88,980
12 31 29,242,395

12 31

2022
238,982 22.46 275,986
(233,261) 24.38 (19,840)
- 24.38 (17,164)

5,721 22.16 238,982

*
24.38 5,721
5,721

*
24.38 62,083
22.60 44,830
24.73 19,037
24.61 17,690
17.59 50,720
22.02 30,896
21.20 13,726
238,982

2022 171,719
16,215,513 2022 30,321,392
2022 31,531,333

66,182,893 2022 65,340,710
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25.

2023 2022
(
- 154,700,505 281,740,503
- 2,151,351 -
- 8,668,279 7,958,315
- 409,960,063 280,440,381
- 366,146 196,354
(
- 5,794,622 6,982,604
- 381,833 466,144
- 398,478,836 384,897,224
(
- 2,797,840 16,437,481
- 13,087,047 20,366,863
- 104,358,358 115,893,075
(
_ 23,077,854 20,721,907
_ 202,409,195 45,549,530
- 67,767,032 118,260,114
- 34,751,104 31,927,075
32,877,975 32,147,166
( 2,743,720 -
2023 12 31
2023 2022
21,207,028 29,414,293
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2023
- 81,052 81,052
99,201 - 99,201
78,498 - 78,498
117,876 - 117,876
440,764 - 440,764
736,339 81,052 817,391
126,251 - 126,251
278,428 - 278,428
183,517 - 183,517
9,340 - 9,340
597,536 - 597,536
2022
- 76,799 76,799
92,848 - 92,848
37,519 - 37,519
108,661 - 108,661
456,659 - 456,659
695,687 76,799 772,486
113,214 - 113,214
250,760 - 250,760
281,633 - 281,633
18,542 - 18,542
664,149 - 664,149
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31
79,667 - 79,667
- 825 825
560 - 560
80,227 825 81,052
31
75,414 - 75,414
- 825 825
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75,974 825 76,799
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2023
12 31 441 2022 457
1.24 2022 1.07

2023

126,251 - - - 126,251
- 250,869 27,559 - 278,428

183,517 - - - 183,517
- 9,340 - - 9,340

309,768 260,209 27,559 - 597,536

2022

113,214 - - - 113,214
- 228,192 22,568 - 250,760

281,633 - - - 281,633
- 9,202 9,340 - 18,542

394,847 237,394 31,908 - 664,149

2023 2022
5% (270) (270) 5% (634) (634)
55 (125) (125) 5% (2,871) (51
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50 171 171 50 (2.,443) (2,443)
2023
_ - 3,434 3,434
(5,405) (2,507) - (7,912)
(5,405) (2,507) 3,434 (4,478)
2022
(12,688) (57,433)  (48,868) (118,989)
(12,688) (57,433)  (48,868) (118,989)
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2023 12 31
2022 12 31
)

3,000,000 385,000 2023 12 31
2022 12 31
29.

2023 12 31 483,036,874,793 2022 432,070,398,364

2023 12 31 149,964,041 2022
156,437,589 1,560,054,763 2022 1,478,907,868

30.

2023 12 31
31.

2024 22
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2023

2023 2022

Motes HES HES
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets ] 21,150,904 21,613,879
Plant and equipment 9 - -
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 10,27 81,051,712 76,798,715
Right-of-use assets 22 9,203,163 18,406,327
Investment in subsidiaries 11 332,540,750 414,540,750
Investment in joint ventunes 12 1.333,723,786 1,356,123.786
Assets classified as held for sale 13 9,803,258 -
Deferred tax assets 14 121,911,254 -
Tatal non-current assels 1,909, 184,827 1,887 483,457
CURRENT ASSETS
Accounts receivable 15 99,200,632 02,848,434
Prepayments, deposits and other receivahbles 16 2.013,122 1,526,052
Due from related parties 17 78,497,575 37,519,397
Client bank balances 18 117,876,274 108,661,231
Cash and cash equivalents 19 440764116 456,658,057
Taotal current assets 738,351,719 699,214,071
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 20 126,251,428 113,214,150
Accrued liabilities and other payables 21 278427785 250,760,423
Lease liabilities 22 9,339,617 9,202,492
Due to related parties 17 __ 183,517,433 281,632,997
Total current liabilities 597,536,263 654,810.062
NET CURRENT ASSETS 140,815,456 44,404,009
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 22 - 9,330.617
NET ASSETS 2.050,200,283 1,922 547,849
EQUITY
Share capital 23 2,409,408,436 2,400 408,436
Share oplion reserve 24 BAM G616 8,405,636
Accumulated lass (367,702.769) (495,266,223}
Tuotal equity 2 050,200,283 1,922 547 849

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

A

Michael Floyd Dommermuth Chad Foyn
Director Director
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2023
2023 2022
Motes HKS HES
REVENUE 4 B51,1 19,613 BO3 636,902
Other income and gains 4 114,917 330 117,839,207
Gam on disposal on investment in a joint 12
veature 25,357,823 -
Impairment losges on investment in @ joint 12
venturg = (2,757,523} {71,632,000)
Impairment losses on investment in a subsidiary 11 (82,000,000) -
Occupancy costs (32,877.975) (32,147.166)
Salaries and other staff costs, directors’
remuneration inclusive (450,540,955) (560 583,241)
Other operating expenses (417,359,453) (380,986,069)
Finance costs on lease liabilities 5,22 {206,380 (341,491)
PROFIT / {LOSS) BEFORE TAX 5 5,652,200 (133,193,858)
Income tnx credil ) 121,911,254 x
PROFIT /[ (LOSS) AND TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE
YEAR 127,563 454 {133,193,858)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
&

179/261



EDINETOOOO
o o =<0 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG}) LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2023

Share

Share optiom  Accumulated Total

capital reserve loss equity

Motes HKS HES HEKS HES

At 1 January 2022 2,782,993 436 B233017 (362,072363) 2,429,154,988

Share issuance 23 57,997,000 - - 57,997,000

Share reduction 3 (431,582,000) - - {431,582,000)

Share option arcangements 24 - 171,719 171,719

Lo i : - (133,193.858) (133,193,858)
income for the year

At 31 December 2022 and 2,409,408,436 8405636 (495,266,223) 1,922,547,849

1 January 2023

Share option arangements 24 - 88,980 - BR,080

Aol ciimpeclines : - 127563456 127,563,454
income for the year

At 31 December 2023 2409 408 436 494616  (367,702,769)  2,050,200,.283

The sccompanying noles are an integral part of these financial statemnents.
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2023
MNotes 2023 el e
HES HKS
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit / {Joss) before tax 5,652,200 {133,193,858)
Adjustments for:
Interest ingome 4 {3,462,032) (1,729,987}
Interest on lease habilities 5,22 206,380 341,491
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 5,22 9,203,164 §203 163
Amorization of intangible asscts 5B 3,718,731 -
Share option expense 24 §8,980 171,719
(iain on disposal of a joint venture 5 12 (25,357,823} -
Impairment of & joimt venure 12 2,757,823 71,632,000
Impairment of a subsidiary 11 22,000,000 - =
74,807,423 (53,575,472)
{Increase) / decrease in financial investmenis st fair
through profit or loss (4,252,997 6,508,595
(Increase) { decrease in accounts réceivable {6,352,198) 21,234 213
Diecrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 1,512,930 647 678,260
{Increase) / decrease in due from related parties (40,978, 178) 58,601,885
Increase in client bank balances (9,215,043} (3,773,370)
Increase in accounts payashle 13,037,278 2384178
Increase / (decrease) in accrued liabilities and other
payables 27,667,362 (55,893,675)
{Decresse) / increass in due to related parties {98,115,564) 72,248,568
Decrease in derivative financial instruments - (7.697.615)
Cash flows {used in) / generated from aperations {41,888,987) 687,715,867
Interest received 3,462,032 1,720 987
Interest on lease Liabilities {206,380 {341,491}
et cash Mows (usad in) / generated from operating
activities (38,633,335) 685,104,363
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to intangible assels i3 (3,255,756) (13,651,035)
Proceeds from disposal of a joint ventire 35,196,742 -
Capital injection to & subsidiary - (23,809,440
Capital injection to joint ventures 12 - (268,619,971
Pet cash fows generated from / {used in) investing
activities 31,940,986 (306,080,445)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares 3 - 57,997 000
Payinent from reduction of shares 23 - (431,582,0000
Principal portion of lease liabilities (9,202,497 (9,067,381}
et cash flows used in financing activities 9,202,482} (182,652,381}
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS {continued)

Year ended 31 Decernber 2023

Motes 2023 2022
HES HES
NET (DECREASE)}/ INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (15,394,841 371,537
Cash and cash equivalenis
at beginning of year 456,658,057 456,287 420
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT ENDOF YEAR 440,764,116 456,658,957
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 19 440,704,116 456,658 957

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

1a
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG RONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG EKONG) LIMITED (the "Company") is a
limited lability company incorporated in Hong Kong, s registered office is located at 10/F, Lee
Giarden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Hay, Heng Kong.

During the year, the Company's principal activities consisted of dealing in securities, dealing in futures
confracts, advising on securities, advising on futures contracls and providing asset management
services.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company of the Company is Manulife Investment
Manapement Imernational Holdings Limited, which is incorporaied in Barbados, and the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Manulife Financial Corporation ("MFC"}, which is incorporated
in Canada and its shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Beporting
Standards ("HKFRS") {which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKAS") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“FIKICPA™), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for derivative financial instruments and financial investments at fair value through profit or loss,
which have been measured at fair value. They are presented in Hong Kong dollars which is also the
Company's functional currency.

Consolidated financial statements have not been prepared and the equity method has not been applied
in respect of the Company’s interests in a joint ventures as the Company is & wholly-owned subsidiary
of MFC, which prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards. The consolidated financial statements of MFC are available at
www.manulife.com.

22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Company has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current vear's
financial statements.

Amendments to HEAS | and Disclasure of Accounting Policies
HEFRS Practice Statement 2
Amendments to HEAS & Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules

11
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MAMULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 December 2023

2.2

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are applicable to the Company are deseribed
below:

(2} Amendments to HKAS | require entities to disclose their material aceounting policy
infarmation rather than their significant aceounting policies. Accounting palicy information is
material if, when considered together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpase financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HEFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide non-
mandatory guidance on how (o apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. The Company has disclosed the material accounting policy information in note 2
to the financial statements. The amendments did not have any impact on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the Company’s financial statements.

b)  Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinetion between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial staterments that are subject to measurement uncertainty, The anendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since
the Company’s approach and policy align with the amendments, the amendments had no
impact on the Company’s financial statements.

(e) Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Teox related ro dssets and Liakilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations. Thercfore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax lisbility for temporary differences arising from these transsctions. The
amendments had no impact on the Company®s financial statements,

(@) Amendments to HKAS 12 fternational Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rrles intreduce a
mandatory temporary exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising
from the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development. The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements for the affected entities to help users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure of current tax
related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is
effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable information of their exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or substantively
enacted but not yet in effect.
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

22 CHANGES M ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES {continued)

The Company has not yet applied the temporary exception during the current year because the
entities comprising the Company are operating in jurisdictions in which the Pillar Two tax law
has not yet been enacted or substantively enacted. The Company will disclose known or
reasonably estimable information related to its exposure to Pillar Two income faxes in the
financial statements by the time when the Fillar Two tax law has been enacted or substantively
enacted and will disclose separately the ewrrent tax expense or income related to Pillar Two
income tanes when it is in effect.

23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Company has not applied the following revised standards that have been issued bul are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HEFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets hetween an Investor and is

and HEAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture
Amendments to HEFRS 16 Lease Liability in o Sale and Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS | Classification of Liabifities s Current or Now-current
fthe “2020 Amendmenss )"
Amendments to HEAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendnents )"
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeabiliny

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2025

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kang lnerpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Staternents - Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with o
change in conclusion

o

Further information about those HEFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Company is described
below.

Amendrments to HKFRS 10 and HEAS 28 address an inconsistency between the requirements in
HEFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its aseociate or joint venture. The amendments require o full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constituies a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor's interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by
the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

13
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 December 2023

23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
{continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
lishility arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or koss that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (Le., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Company s financial statements.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer setflement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exereise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its
own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself sccounted
for as an equity instrament would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a liability asising from a loan arrangement, only
those with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that
lighility as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.
The amendiments shail be applied retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity that
applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and
vice versa. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and whether existing
loan agreetents may require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Company”’s financial statements,

Amendments 1o HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable into
another currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable users of
financial statements to understand the impact of a curreney not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot resiate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated
in & separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments
are not expected 1o have any significant impact on the Company’s financial statements,

i4
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
WOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

I4  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaties

A subgidiary is an enfity {including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control 15 achieved when the Company 35 exposed, or has nights, to variable retumns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those retoms throogh its power over the
investee (i, existing rights that give the Company the current ability io direct the relevant activities
of the investee),

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investes, the Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
aver an investes, inciuding:

{&) the cantractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
(b} rights arising from other contraciual arrangements; and
{c) the Company's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in profit or loss w the extent of dividends received and
receivable, The Company's investments in subsidiaries that are oot ¢lassified as held for sale
accordance with HKFRS § Mon-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are stated
at cost less any impairment [osses.

Investments in an associate and joint ventures

An associate 15 an entity in which the Company has a long term interest of generally not less than
20% of the equity voting rights and over which it has significant influoence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not
control or joint control over those policies,
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture, Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

If an investment in an associate becomeés an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the refained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be sccounted for under the equity
methed. In all ether cases, upon Joss of significant influence over the associate or joint contral over
the joint venture, the Company measures and récognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or lozs.

The results of an associate and joint ventures are included in profit or loss 10 the extent of dividends
received and recervable. The Company’s investments 10 an associate and a joint vénture are treated as
nom-curment assets and are stated at cost less any impairment losses. When an investment in an associate
or a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is aceounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5.

ir v, e L‘.

The Company measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid vo transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability, The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Company. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assumning that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fzir value measurement of & non-financial asset takes into sccount a market participant's ability to
gencrate cconomic benefits by using the assel in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use,

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circomstances and for which

sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
miinimising the use of unobservable inputs,

16
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
WOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Al assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
sygnificant to the fair valoe measurement as a whole:

Level 1 = based on gquoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical asscis or liabilitics

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation lechniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurning basis, the
Company determines whether transfers have eccurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting peried.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required
{other than deferred tax assets, lnancial assets), the assed’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less easts of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assels or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs,

I testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate assel
{e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if' it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only ifthe carrying amount of an assct exceeds its recoverable amount,
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the assct. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset,

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment fogs of an
asget other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates wsed to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been detenmined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior vears, A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or foss in the
pericd in which it arises.
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEMTS

31 December 2023

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

| 125

A party is considered to be related 1o the Company if:
{(a) the party is a person or 4 close member of that person's Family and that person

(i) has control or joint contral ever the Company;

(ii) has significant influence over the Company; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or of a parent of the
Company;

(b} the parfy is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

i the entity and the Company are members of the same group,

it} one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i} the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the same thind party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entily is an associate of the
third entity;

{v} the entity is u post-employment benefit plan for the beaefit of employees of either the
Company or an entity related to the Company;

(vi}  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

{vii)  aperson identified in (a}i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

{viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Company or fo the parent of the Company.

Intangible assets

Costs related to the development of internally developed software are capitalised as intangible assets
with finite useful lives. Software intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of three to 10 years after they have been put into operation. Finite life intangible
asseis are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting period.

uipment an ciation
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When
an item of plant and équipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in sccordance with HEKFRS 5. The
cost of an ftem of plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and [ocation for its intended use.

Expenditure ineurred after items of plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred, In situations
where the recognition criteria are zatisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement,  Where significant parts of plant and equipment are
required bo be replaced at intervals, the Company recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KOMNG) LIMITED
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates wsed for this

purpase are as follows:
Furniture and equipment 16% to 334%
Motor vehicles 2054 1o 3319%

Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated scparately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are peviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end,

An item of plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the vear the asset is derecogmised is the
difference betwesn the net sules proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Leases

The Company assesses al contract inception whether a contract is, or containg, a lease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Company ax a lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term |eases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities o make Jeass
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the undarlying assets.

{a) Right-of-use asscis
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for us¢). Right-ofuse assets are meesured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
lizhilities, The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received,

(h) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed pavments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease inceutives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid vnder residoal value guarantees,
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate, The variable lease payments that do not
depend an an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the peried in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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MANULIFE INWESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONMNG KOMNG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

() Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the aceretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the earrying amount
of lease linhilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (.2., & change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an aption to purchase the underlying asset.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Company is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating
leases net of any imcentives received from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms,

Investments and other financial assets

fnitial recogrition and measurement

Fiancial assets are clussified, at inifial recogmtion, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value throwgh other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets al initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company
has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant finaneing component, the
Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In: order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs 1o give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest ("SFPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SFP] are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model,

The Company's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial
assets I order o generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will resul
from eollecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial asscts, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the abjective to held financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a business mode] with the objective of both
helding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Finaneial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair velue through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset,
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inw 15 & the i

Subsequent measurement
The subzequent measuréement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Finaneial assets at amoriised cost (debt nseruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or Joss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (delt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, interest income, foreign

exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or

lpss and eomputed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amertised cost. The remaining
fair valve changes are recognised in other comprebensive income, Upon derecognition, the cumulative
]i.'al':r value change recognised in other comprehensive income is recyeled to the statement of profit or
55,

Finemeial assets designated af fair value trough other comprehensive fncome (equily investments)
Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect 1o classify imevocably it equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Fimancial Instriments: Presentarion and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrement-byv-instrument basis,

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Company benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not subjeet to impairment
assessment.

Finaneial assets ot fair value vough profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are caried in the statement of financial pesition at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instnoments and cquity investments which the Company had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other comprehensive jacome. Dividends on the
equity investments are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is separated
from the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are
not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative
would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measored at fair value through
profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair valee recognised
in the siatement of profit or loss. Reassessment only necurs if there i3 either a change in the terms of
the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows thal would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

and ather i ntinued)
A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately. The financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified
in its entirety a5 a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

Deriva naneial instroms il
Tnitial nition and subsequent measurement
The Company uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts, to hedge its
foreign currency risk. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair valee.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value 15 positive and as liabilities when the fair value is

negative,

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair valee of derivatives are taken directly to the statement
of profit or loss, except for the effective portion of cash Alow hedges, which is recognised in other
comprehensive income and later reclassified to prodit or loss when the hedged item affects profit or loss,

The fair value of forward cerrency contract is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates
for contracts with similar maturity profiles.

The derivative financial instruments entered into the by the Company do not qualify for hedge
accounting and, accordingly, are stated at fair value at the end of the reporting period with any fair value
gains or losses being taken directly o the statement of profit or loss.

Impairment of financial

The Company recognises an allowance for Expected Credit Losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference bebween the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects 1o
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective imerest rate. The expected cash flows
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other eredit enhancements that are intepral to
the contractual termas.

Crenerad approach
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant

incresse in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for eredit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (2 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a sighificant increase in eredit risk sinee initial recognition, a loss allowance
is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default {a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly sinee initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Company compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurming on the financial instrument as ar the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, ineluding
historical and forward-looking information.
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impainment ;i &

Simplified approach

For account receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component or
when the Campany applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
compenent, the Company applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on tifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment,

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant financing component and lease
receivables, the Company chooses as its accounting pelicy to adopt the simplified approach in
caloulating ECL= with policies as described above.

Derscognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, 4 part of a financial asset or part of & group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Company's statement of financial position)
when:
o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired: or
e the Company has tramsferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in fult without material delay to a third party under a
"pass-throngh” amangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the assel, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, bul has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to reeeive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through amangement, it evaloates if and fo what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of
cwnership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Company continues o recognise the
transferred assef to the extent of the Company’s continuing invelvement. In that case, the Company
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on i basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has refained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is mensured at the
kower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum emount of consideration that the
Company could be required to repay.

inancial labilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accrued liabilities and other payables and amounts dee o group
companies, which are classified as Joans and borrowings, are initially stated at fair value plus direetly
attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the amortisation process.
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24  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability 15 discharged or cancelled,
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same [ender on
substantially different ferms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original lisbility and the recognition of a
new lahility, and the difference between the respective carrying amotnis is recognised in profit or loss,

inancial i
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement af

financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right o offset the recognised amonnts and
there is an infention to setile on a net basis, or to realise the assets and seitle the labilities

simultaneoushy.

Clignt bank balances

The Company maintains trust and segregated accounts with authorised financial institutions 10 hald
clients' deposits arising from normal business wansactions. The Company has classified the clients’
monies 15 client inest bank balances under current assets in the statement of financial position as the
Company is allowed to retain some or all of the interest income on the clients’ monies and recognised
corresponding accounts pavable to the respective customers in current fiabilities on grounds that it is
liahle for any loss or misappropriation of clients' monies. The Company s net allowed 1o use the clients’
monies to settle its own obligation,

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, eash and eash equivalents comprise cash on hand and a1
banks, and short-tecm highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash cormitments,

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Company s cash management.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
ar loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amouent expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, hased on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enscted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretation and practices prevailing in
the eountries in which the Company operates,

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period belween the tax bases of assets and habilities and their carryving amonts for financial

reporting purpases.
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax {continued)

Deeferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, a1 the fime of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profil nor taxable profit or loss; and

= in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be contralled
and it 15 probuble that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of

unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deduetible temporary differences, the
camyforward of unused tax credits and uaused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affeets neither the aceounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise (0 equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

s in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed af the end of each reporting period and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sulficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end
of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficiem
taxable profit will be available to allow all ar part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered,

Dieferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected %0 apply to the period when the
assel is realised or the liability is setiled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted ar
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting pericd.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilitics are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the sume taxable entity
and the same taxation authority,

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goeds or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Revenue are recognised on the following bases:

197/261



EDINETOOOO
o o =<0 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

24  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(continued)
Revenue recognition

{a) investment advisory fees and distribution fees are recognised over time because the customer
simultancously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company;

] additional performance fees on investment advisory services are recognised upon the
achievement of specified performance targets;

<) commission on redemption of investrment funds, as revenue at the point of time that the relevant
contract nodes are executed;

(d} interest income, on an accroal basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate
that discounts the estimated future cash receipt through the expected life of the financial
instrirment to the net carrying amount of the finanecial asset; and

{e}  dividend income, when the sharcholders' right to receive payment has been established.

A contract linbility is recognised when a paymewt is received or a payiment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Company transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Company performs under the contract {i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payment ransactions

The Manulife Financial Corporation, the Company's ultimate holding compasny, operates share option
schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the suecess of the Manulife Finaneial Corporation group's operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Company receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment, whereby employees render
services as consideration for cquity instruments ("equity-settled transactions”™).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants after 7 Movember 2002 is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model, further details of which are given in note 24 to the financial
statements. The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together
with & corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance andfor service
conditions are fulfilled.

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date retlects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company's best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimarely vest. The charge or credit to profit or
lozs for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Company's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vesr. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value., Any other conditions attached to
en award, but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Share-based pavment transactions (continued)
Mog-vesting conditions are refiected in the fair valve of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions,

For awards that do net ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards inclede a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/for service conditions are satisfied. Where the terms of
an equity-seitled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addilion, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yei recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Company or the employes are not met.

However, i a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award
on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of
the original award, as deseribed in the previous paragraph.

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially at fair value, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The fair value is cxpensed over the period
until vesting with recognition of a comesponding liability. The liability is measured af the end of each
report period up to and including the setflement date, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

The Company has adopted the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards
and has applied HKFRS 2 only to equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not
vested by 1 January 2005 and to these granted on or after 1 January 2005.

Cther emplovee benefity

Paid leave carried forward

The Company provides paid annual leave to its employees under their employment conifracts on a
calendar year basis. Under cerain circumstances, such Jeave which remains untaken as at the end of
the reporting peried is permitted to be carried forward for one year and wtilised by the respective
employees in the following year. An sccrual is made at the end of the reporting period for the expected
future cost of such paid leave carned during the year by the employees and carried forwerd,

Pension schiemes

The Company operates a defined contribution Mandatery Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme
(the "MFF Scheme") under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Company in an independently administered fund. The Company’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Company's cmplover
voluntery contributions, which are refunded to the Company when the employee leaves emplovment
pricr to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in general
meeting,

Interim dividends are simultanecusly proposed and declared, because the Company's memorandurn and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared by the
directors.

Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company's functional
CUTEncy.

Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded using the functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the wransactions. Monetary assets and labilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translaied at the functional eurrency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Dilferences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or lnss.

Mon-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 2 foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fajr
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising in translation of 2 non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

i

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make adjustments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and lihilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumption and estimates could result in outeomes that could require material adiustment to the
carryving amounts of the assets and liabilities affected in the future,

Iydgements

In the process of applying the Company's accounting policies, management has made the following
Jjudgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amaounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from conbects with customers

The Company concluded that revenue for investment advisory and distribution services is to be
recognised over time because the customer simultanecusly receives and consumes the henefits provided
by the Company.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued)

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key souwrces of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 1o the canrying
amounts of assets and Liabilities within the next financial vear, are described helow.

Impairment of non-financial assers (other than goadwill)

The Company assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at
the end of each reporting period. Cther non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
virlue of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The caleulation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm's length transaction of
similar assels or observable market prices less ineremental costs for disposing of the asset, When value
in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
assel or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to caleutate the present value
of those cash flows.

Deferred fax assels

Dreferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based wpon the likely
timing and level of futore taxable profits together with future tax planning sirategies.

Leases — Estimating the incremental horrowing raie

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an
imcremental borrowing rate (“TBR™) to measure lease liabilities, The [BR is the rate of inferest that the
Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary 1o obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBE. therefore reflects what the Company “would have to pay™, which requires
estimation when no observable rates arc available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
( for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Company estimates the
[BR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates} when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary's stand-alone credit rating).

Assessment of investment fumds o5 siructured entities
The Company has assessed whether the funds, for which the Company provides asset management
services, are structhured entitics,

The Company considered the voting rights and other similar rights afforded to other parties in these
funds (investors, independent board of directors, or trustees), including the rights to remove the
Company as fund manager, liquidate the funds, or redeem holdings in the funds (if' such rights are
equivalent to liquidating the funds) and has concluded as to whether these rights are the dominant factor
in deciding who controls the funds. The Company has judged that managed funds are structured entities
unless substantive remaval or liquidation rights (including redemption rights akin to liquidation) exist.
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31 December 2023

4. REVENUE AND OTHER TNCOME

Revenus represents the investment advisory fees and distribution fees. An analysis of revenue, ather

income and gains is as fiollows:

2023 2022
HEKS HES
Revenue from contracts with customers
[nvestment advisory foes and distribution fees 1,560,054,763 1,478,907 868
Luss: Investment fee expenses and rebates (714,891,157 {675,250,966)
Platform administration fie 5,956,007 a
851,119,613 803,656,902
Other income and gains
Dividend ingome from a joint ventre 2,743,720 -
Expense recharge to intercompany 114,886,329 130,030,762
Gain/ {loss) on financial investments at fair value
through profit or loss 1,769 (14,604,099)
Interest income
= from authorised institutions 3,462,032 899,570
- othets - 830,417
Foreign exchange (loss) / gain, net (6,176,500) 682,557
114,917,350 117,839,207
D&6,036,963 921,496,109
5. GAIN / (LOSS) BEFORE TAX
The Company's gain{loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
2023 2022
HES HEKS
Employes benefits expenses
Wages and salaries 408,345,055 519,256,246
Bension scheme contributions 12,864,525 18,623,043
Share-based payments 29331,375 31,703,052
Service fees (Nate 25) 328,005,185 216,458,627
Deenpancy costs
Rental and occupancy expenses 23,469,103 22,944,003
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (Note 22) 9,203,164 9,203,163
Auditors” remuneration 437220 406,678
Interest on [ease labilities (Note 22) 206,380 341,491
Impainment losses of a joint venture (MNote 12) 2. 757,823 71,632,000
Gain on disposal of a joint veamre (Note 12) (25.357.823) -
Amontzation of intangible assets (Note §) 3,718,731 -
Impairment losses of a subsidiary (Note 11) 82,000,000 -

Service fees to related party was regrouped for betier presenting the essence of the arrangemeni anc

conformed to the current year's presentation,
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

o. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Directors' remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)(a) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)

Regulations, is as follows:

2023 2022

HES HES

Fees z
Cher emoluments

Salaries, alfowances and benefits in kind 21,207.028 29,414,293

21,207,028 20414293

7. INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Company has wtilised the tax losses

brought forward from previous periods (2022 Nil).

A reconciliation of the tax charge / (eredit) applicable to profit / (loss) before tax using the statutory

rate to the tax expense at the effective tax rate, is as follows:

2023 2022

HES k1 HE% %
Profit / (loss) before tax 5,652,200 (133,193 858}
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.3% 932,613 6.5 (21,976.986) 16.5
Income not subject to tax (5,207,985) (2.1 (285,435) 0.2

Expenses not deductible for wmx

14865311 263.0 10,733,686 (. IE}

- 13,528,735 (87)

(187.4) - .

Tax loszes not recognised

Tax losses utilised from previous

periods (10,589.939)

Deferved tax credited (note 14) (121,910,234 (2,156.9) - -
Total tax credit for the year (121,911,254)  (2,156.9) - -

8, INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2023 2022
HE% HES

Software
At 1 January 21,613,879 7,962,844
Additions 3,255,756 13,651,035
Accnmulated amortisation {3,718.731) -
MNet carrying amount at 31 December 21,150,904 21,613,879
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FIMANCIAL STATEMENTS

3] December 2023

o, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture and Motor
equipment vehicles Total
HEKS HKS HES
At 31 December 2023
Cost - - -
Accumulated depreciation - - -
Wet carrying amount - = i
Furniture and Motor
equipment vehicles Total
HEKS HES HES
At 1 January and 31 December 2022
Cost at 1 January 2022 2343513 - 2343513
Retirement during the year _12343,513) - (2.343,513)
Cost at 31 December 2022 - - -
Aceumulated depreciation at | January 2022 2343513 - 2343.513
Retirement during the year {2,343,513) - {2343.513)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2022

Cost - - -
Accumulated depreciation - - -
Met carmying amount . - -

10. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022

HES HE3

Schoal debentures, at fair value 825,000 B25.0:00
Club debentures, at fair value 560,000 360,000
Mirtual funds, at fair value 79,666,712 75,413,715
B1.051,712 76,798,715
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED

MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023
11. NVESTWENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
2023 2022
HES HES
Unlisted shares, at cost at | January 414,540,750 414,540,750
Impairment provision (82,000,000) :
Cost at 31 December 332,540,750 414,540,750

The amount due from subsidiaries included in the Company's current asssts of HKS608,676 (2022
HEK$205,808) is unsecured, interest-free, and iz repayable on demand.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiary are as follows:

Percentage
of ordinary
Momival value  shares directly
Place of of issued held by Principal
Mame incorporation share capital  the Company activities
; Engages in raising
Manulife and management of
Investment seeurities investment
Managemetit Teiwan  NTD349 500,000 100 it Tkt Aad
E_.vaa:ll] Co., discretionary
ol investment services
Manulife g ,
Investment Chi US$13,374,989 100 d'bws 5
(Shanghai) e 2 'n'.rcﬁt'nau c::m!w
Limited Company ' il serviees
Manulific
Investment Engages n provision
Management Hong Kong HES 100,000 100 of nomines account
(HE) Mominees seTvVices
Limited

The net profit for the year of Manulife [nvestment Management {Taiwan) Co., Limited attributable to
the Company which was not dealt with in the financial statements of Manulife Investment Management
{Taiwan) Co., Limited amounted to HE$4,753,378 (2022: net loss of HES5,804,065). The net
accumulated post-acquisition loss as at the end of the reporting period of the subsidiary attributable to
the Company amounted to HK$122,827,305 (2022: HK$127,580,683) and no dividend or impairment
loss were dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

The net loss for the vear of attributable to the Company which was not dealt with in the financial
statements of the Manulife Investment (Shanghai) Limited Company (“MISL™) amounted to
HEKS16,878,820 (2022: HK$11,897,510). The net accumulated loss as at the end of the reporting period
of the subsidiary atiributable to the Company amounted to HE$78,731,223 (2022: HK$61,832,403)
and ne dividend was dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.
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11. NVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continusd)

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount
calculation representing the present value of cash
results of the impairment test show that the recover
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED

of MISL has been determined using value in use
flow projections covering a five-year period. The
able amount is below the carrying amount by $82.0

million as at 31" December 2023, The Company therefore has included an impairment provision of
HE$82.0 million {2022: Nil) in the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income.

The net profit for Manulife Investment Management (HE) Nominees Limited was nil for the year. Mo

dividend or impairment loss were dealt with in the

MNVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES

Costat 1 January

Capital injection during the yvear
Disposal during the vear

Assels classified as held for sale
Impainment provision

financial statements of the Company.

2023 2022
HKS$ HKS
1,356,123,786  1,159,135,816
. 268619970

(9,838,919) -
(9,803,258) .
(2,757,823) (71,632,000)

Cost at 31 Diecember 1,333,723,786 1,356,123,786
) Percentage of
Particulars
of issued Common  Convertible
shares Place of equity preferred  Voting  Profit Principal

Name held  registration  interest equity power sharing activity
Manulife Registerad
Fund capital of ; B 4 Fund
Management  RMB1 Khiva A i management
Co. L. * each
Albamen Registered Private
Capital capital of Hong i
Pactaers HKS1 Kong 49 100 49 it cq'u:i};
Limited** ks managemen
Arch Capital  "BISerec o Real Estate
Management Ty oy 3, 35 - 35 35 investment
Co. Limited cach nE management

*(n 20 April 2023, the name of “Manulife TEDA Fund Management Co., Ltd"™, changed to

“anulifc Fund Management Co., Ltd.”,

**During the year, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement to dispose Albamen Capital

Parimers Limited (“Albamen’™) to an external party,
34
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MAMNULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED

MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

12.

(a)

(&)

TNVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
The above investment in joint ventures is directly held by the Company.

Manulife Fund Management Co. Limited {"MFM"} (formerly koown as Manulife TEDA Fund
Mansgement Co., Led), Albamen and Arch Capital Management Co. Limited (“Arch”), which are
considered material joint ventures of the Company, are accounted for using the cost method under
exemplion from HEAS 28,

On 12 May 2022, the Company acquired 35% interest of Arch at a purchase price of US$26 Smillion.
Arch is ap experienced Asian real estate investment manager with client base in Asia, Europe, and the
Middie East.

O 20 Jaruary 2022, the Company injected USS7,440,000 in Albamen to find the operating activitics.

On 10 October 2023, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement with an external party on
divestment of Albamen, Tranche 1 was completed on 22 December 2023, in which 7,500,000 ordinary
shares and 33,802,376 preferred shares were disposed at & consideration of HES35,196,742 and
resulied in a gain on disposal smounting to HES25,357,823.

As at 27 December 2023, the remaining interest in Albamen is classified as assets held for sale and the
recoverable amount is determined by the offer price of tranche 2 sale. The Company therefore included
an impairment provision of HK$2.76 million (2022: HK$7 1.6 million) in the statement of profit or loss
and comprehensive income,

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of MFM, Albamen and Arch,
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in the
financial statements:

Menulife Fund Management Co, Lid

2023 2022

HES HE3
Assets 1,230,273,578 1,202,669,57]
Liahilities 259,246,942 271,955,155
Revenne 355,202,689 353,573,354
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 58,509,749 34,464,449

Albamen Capital Partners Limited

2023 apzz

HES HKE
Assets N/A 85,558,327
Liabilities N/A 5495,870
Loss and total comprehensive ingome for the year Nia (28,796, 120)
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3] Decomber 2023

12. NVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

{c) Arch Capital Management Co. Limited

2023 2022
HES HES
Asgits 125,619,350 114,417,108
Liabilities 26,482 567 38,712,265
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 29,542,833 54,379,619

13.  ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Asat 3! December 2023, assets classified as held for sele represented the remaining interest in Albamen.
The recoverable amount is determined by the offer price of tranche 2 sale which is expected to be
completed by 2024,

14, DEFERRED TAX

The Company has tax losees arising in Hoog Kong of HKST738,856,086 (2022: HES803,037,535) that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arase. Deforred tax assets of HKS121,911,.254 have been recognised in respect of these losses as the
company started terning into profits-making from current vear and it is considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which these tax losses can be utilised.

Losses

available for

offsetting apainst

furture taxable prafits

HEKS

At 31 December 2022 .
Deferred tax credited to the statement

profit or loss during the year (Note 7) 121,911,254

Deferred tax assets at 31 December 2023 121,011,254
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HOMG KONG) LIMITED

WOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

15.

18.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2023 2022
HES HES
[nvestment advisory and distribution fee receivables (Note (a)) 90,080,606 86,157,536

Amounts receivable from dealing in securities (Mote (b))
- ash clients 1,643,654 -
- Fund houses 6,801,215 4,552,919
Oither fees receivable (Wate (a)) 665,157 2137979
99,200,632 92,848,434

{a) The accounts receivable represents invesmment advisory fees recetvable from the funds managed by
the Company, and distribution fees receivable for funds distributed by the Company, which are
usnally settled within 3 months. There is no significant concentration of credit risk. The carrying
amounts of the accounts receivable approximate their fair valee.

(b) The sccounts receivable from cash clients and fund houses arises from the ordinary course of
business of dealing in securitiss. The amounts are not considered impaired at the end of the reporling
peried.

There is no loss allowanee for impaitment of accounts receivable recognised during the vear (2022: Nil).
Imipairment wnder HFRS 9 for the year ended 31 December 2023

The Company applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss model for all trade veceivables. To measure
the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been prouped bused on shared eredit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The expected credit losses have also incorporated forward-looking information.
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss allowanee was assessed to be minimal.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022

HKS HKS

Prepayments and other receivables 2,013,122 3,526,052
2.013,122 3,526,052

Mane of the above assets are either past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above
balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of default. The carrying amounts
of these financial assets approximate their fair values.

a7
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

17. BALANCES WITH RELATED COMPAMIES

2023 2022
HES HE%

Amounts due from
- an immediate holding company = 19 400,623
= asubsidiary 608,676 293,808
- fellow subsidiarics 77,858,177 17,822,966
- & joint venture 30,722 -
78,497,575 37,319,397

Amounts due (o

- intermediate holding companies 86,270,704 122,277,879
- subsidiaries 7,033,221 11,774,114
- fellow subsidiaries 68,350,828 147,572,321
~ @ joint venturs - §.683
- an immediate holding company 21,862 680 -
183,517,433 281,632,997

The balances with related parties arc unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The carrying
amounts of these balances approximate their fair values,

18.  CLIENT BANK BALANCES
The Company maintained clients’ monies in segregated accounts with authorised financial institutions

through an affiliated nominee company in accordance with the provisions of Securities and Futures
{Client Money) Roles. Client monies were not included in the cash and cash equivalents of the

Company.
2023 2022
HES HES
Client bank balances 117,876,274 108,661,231

£9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2023 2022
HES HES
Cash and bank balances 440,833,831 456,658,957
Bank overdrafls {69,715} =
440,764,116 456,658,957

Cash at bank beneficially owned by the Company eams interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposits rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default,
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

20. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

2023 2022

HEKS HKS

Amounts payable to elients 92,745,669 106,224 872
Ameunts payable to fund houses 33,505,759 6,989,278
126,251 428 113,214,150

Accounts payable to clients and fund houses represents amounts payable arising in the normal course
of dealing in securities.

2l. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYARBLES

2023 022

HES HES

Payables 67,434 109,518
Provision of staff costs 173,949 098 174,680,685
Contract liabilities 2,722,434 3,196,716
Cither accruals 101,688,819 72,764,504
278,427,785 250,760,423

Payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of three months and other aceruals are
normally settled within | vear. The carrying amounts approximate their fair valoes,

The contract liabilities represents distribution fee receipt in advance with a fellow subsidiary. During
the year, the company received nil (2022: HK3$3,668,526) distribution fee receipt in advance and the
amounts of revenue recognised in the current reporting period is HE$474,282 (2022 HE3471,810),

g
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

22, LEASES
(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrving amounts of the Company's right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are s

fosllewes:

Properties

leased for own

use

HES

As at 1 January 2022 -

Addition 27,600,490

Depreciation charge (Mote 5) (9,203,163)

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 18,406,327
Diepreciation charge (Note 5) (9,203, 164)

As at 31 December 2023 9,203,163

(b) Lease liabilities

The canying amounts of the Company’s lease labilities and the movements duving the year are as

follows:

HE:
Carrying amount at | January 2022 -
Mew lease 27,609,450
Aceretion of interest recognised during the year (Wote 5) 341,491
Payments (9.408.872)
Carrving amount at 31 December 2022 and | January 2023 18,542,100
Aceretion of interest recognised during the year (MNote 5) 206,380
Payments (5 408,872)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 9,338,617
Analysed into:

Currenl portion 9,339,617
Mon-current portion -
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 Docember 2023

22, LEASES (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2023 2022

HKS HEKS

Interest on lease liabilities (Mot 5) 206,380 341,41
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (Note 3) 5203 164 9,203,163
9,409,544 9,544,654

The weighted average meremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities is 1.5% (2022: 1.5%).

23, SHARE CAPITAL

2023 2022
HES HKS
Tssued and fully paid:
2,054,061,936 (2022: 2,054,961,936 of HKS1 each)
ardinary shares 2,108 408 436 2,108 408436
301,000,000 (2022; 301,000,000 of HEK$1 each)
preferred shares 301,000,000 301,000,000
2,409 408,436 2.409.408,436

A summary of movements in the Company’s ordinary share capital is as follows:

Share capital

and other

Number of Share statubory

shares in issue capital reserve

HES HKS

AL January 2022 228,546,936 2,.481,993,436 2,481,993 436

Share issued (Note (a)) 57,997,000 57,997,000 57,997,000

Share repatriated (Mote (b)) (431,582,000) {431,582,000) (431,582.000)

At 31 December 2022,1
January 2023 and 31

December 2023 2,054,961,936 2,108,408 436 2,108,408 436
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

23

24.

SHARE CAPITAL {continued)
Motes:

{a) Pursuant to an ordinary resolation passed oo 3 Janpary 2022, 57,997,000 ordinary shanes were
isened to the existing shareholder of the Company on 10 January 2022, which resulted in increase
in share capital of HK$57,997,000. The purpose of the issue was to fund the investment in jointly
controlled entity, Albamen.

{b) Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 18 August 2022, reduction of 431,582,000 ordinary
shares of the Company were campleted on 3 October 2022, which resulted in reduction in share
capital of HK$43 1,582,000,

EXECUTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN, RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT PLAN AND PERFORMANCE
SHARE UNIT PLAN OF ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

Under the Executive Stock Option Plan ("ESOP") of the ultimate holding company, stock options are
periodically granted to the employees (ineluding directors) of the Company for their service granted to
the Company. Options provide the holder with the right to purchase common shares at an oxercise
price equal to the closing market price of the ultimate holding company's common shares on the
Exchange on the business day immediately preceding the date the options were granted. The options
vest over a period of not exceeding four years and expire not mere than 10 years from the grant date.
A total of 73.6 million common shares have been reserved for issue under the ESOP for the Company's
em ployees.

In addition to ESOP, the ultimate holding company of the Company also granted restricted share units
{"RSU") and performance share wnits ("PSU") to the employee (including directors) of the Company
for their service rendered to the Company. RSUs and PSUs entitle a participant to receive a payment
equal 1o the market value of the sam¢ number of common shares of the Company's ultimate holding
company at the time the RSUs and PSUs vest and are paid out within three years from issuance.
Participants' accounts arc credited with dividends declared on common shares. No common shares of
the Company's ultimate holding company will be issued in connection with RSUs and PSUs.

The following share options were cutstanding under the Scheme during the year:

2023 2022
Weighted average  Wumber Weighied average MNumber of
exercize price of options exercise price options
CAD CAD
Ad 1 January X116 235,982 246 275,986
Granted during the vear . . - -
Trensfer in/(out) during the year 2211 (233.261) 24.38 (19,840)

Exercised during the year 5 24.38 (17,164)
Cancelled/expired during the year - - = i

At 31 December 24.3%8 5,721 22.16 238,982

&2
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

24, EXECUTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN, RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT PLAN AND PERFORMANCE
SHARE UNIT PLAN OF ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding as at the end of the reporting
pericd are as follows:

2023
Exercise Period Exercise Prices® Number of options
CAD
March 3, 2021 10 March 3, 2032 24.38 5,721
5,721
2022
Exercise Period Exercise Prices® MNumber of options
CAD
March 3, 2021 to March 3, 2032 2438 62,083
March 3, 2020 to March 5, 2031 22.60 44 830
February 27, 2019 to February 27, 2030 24,73 19,037
Fehruary 28, 2018 to February 28, 2029 24.61 17,690
February 23, 2017 to February 23, 2026 17.59 50,720
February 24, 2016 to Febroary 24, 20235 22.02 30,896
February 25, 2015 to February 25, 2024 21.20 13,726
238,982

*  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or
other similar changes in the share capital of the ullimate holding company.

The Company recognised a share option expense of HK$88,980 (2022: HE$171,719) during the year
ended 31 December 2023,

The fair value of the RSUs and PSUs granted during the year was HK$16,215513 (2021
HE$30,321,392) in respect of which the Company recognised RSUs aud PSUs expenses of
HKS29,242,395 (2022 HK$31,531,333) during the year ended 31 December 2023,

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying value of the RSUs and PSUs liabilities amounted 1o
HEK$66,182,893 (2022: HKS65,340,710).
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

{8) The Company had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:

2023 2022
HEK$ HES
Motes
Investment advisory and distribution fees
received from (i}
- the immediate holding company 154,700,505 281,740,503
= the intermediate holding company 2,151,351 -
- o subsidiary £.668,279 7958315
- fellow subsidiaries 409,960,063 280,440,381
- & joint venture 366,146 196,354
Investment fiee expenses paid o (ii)
- a subsidiary 5,794,622 6,982,604
- & joint venture 341,833 466,144
- fellow subsidiaries 393,478,836 384,897,224
Servics fees charged to {iii)
- an intermediote holding company 2,797,840 16,437 481
- the immediate holding company 13,087,047 20,366,863
- fellow subsidiarics 104,358 358 115,893,075
Service fees paid to {iv)
- intermediate Lolding companics 23,077,854 20,721,907
- the immediate holding company 202,409,195 45,549,530
- fellow subsidiaries 67 767,032 118,260,114
- & subsidiary 34,751,104 31,927,075
Rental and ocoupancy expenses paid to a
fellow subsidiary (v} 312377975 32,147,166
Dividend received from a joint venture (vi) 2,743,720 -

44

216/261



EDINETOOOO
o o =<0 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

MANULTFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

25, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS {continued)

{a) The Company had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:
{contimued)

Modes:

{i) The investment advisory and distribution fee income is based on terms as sgreed with the
inumtediate holding company, intermediate holding company, subsidiary, fellow subsidiaries
and joint venture.

(i) The investment fee expenses include sub-investment manager fees, trailer fees and agency
fees. The sub-investment manager fees are based on terms as agreed with the subsidiary,
fellow subsidiaries and joint venture. Truiler fires and sgency fees represent services
pravided by a fellow subsidiary to the Company and are based on actual costs incurred by
the fellow subsidiary.

(i} The service fees represent services provided by the Company to an intermediate holding
company, immediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries. The service fees are based
on actual costs ineurred.

{iv) The service fees paid to fellow subsidiares, intermediate holding companies and the
immediate holding company are based on actual costs incurred.

(v} HRental and occupancy expenses represent services provided by a fellow subsidiary to the
Company. The charges are based on actual costs incurred by the fellow subsidiary.

{(vi) Dividend income represents rewards received from a joint venture.
(b) Owistanding balances with related parfics

The balances with related parties as at 31 December 2023 are unsecnred, intorest-tree, and are
repayable on demand. These carrying amounts approximate their fair values,

{c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Company:

2023 2022
HEKS HKS
Short term employee benefits 21,207,028 29,414,293

Further details of directors' remuneration are included in note 6 to the financial stalements,
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The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as al the end of the reperting

pericd are as follows:

2023

Financial assets

Financial investments at fair value

through profit or loss
Accounts receivable
Due from related parties
Client bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents

Einancial liabilitics

Accounts payable

Acerued liabilities and other payables

Due to related parties
Lease liabilities

Financial

asgels at fair

Financial assets  value through
atamortised cost  profit or loss Total
HES" (1) HES"000 HES 000
- 81052 £1,052
99201 - 99,201
78,498 - TR.408
117,876 - 117,876
440,764 - 440,764
736,339 §1,052 B17.391

Financial

Financial  liabilities at fair

labilities at walue through
amortised cost profit or loss Total
HEE 000 HRS000 HES 000
126,251 - 126,251
278,428 < 278,428
183,517 - 183,517
- 9,340 - 9,340
397,536 - 507,536
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG K.ONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial insirements us af the end of the reporting
period are as foflows: (continued)

22

Financial

assets at fair

Finaneial assets  value through
Financial assets gt amortised cost  profit or loss Total
HES 000 HES 000 HES 000

Financial investments at fair value

through profit or loss - 76,799 76, 79%
Accouils receivable 02,848 = 92,848
Dwe from related parties 7,519 . 37,519
Client bank balances 108,661 - 108,661
Cash and cash equivalents 456,659 - 456,659
695,687 T, 199 772486

Finuncial

, A Financial  liabilities at fair

Financial liabilities liabilities st~ value through
amortised cost profit or loss Total
HES 000 HES 000 HE 000
Accounts payable 113,214 - 113,214
Accrued liabilities and other payables 250,760 - 250,760
Due to related parties 281,633 - 281,633
Lease liabilities T 18,542 - 18,542
664,140 - 664,149
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

27 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Company's financial instruments, other than those with
camrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
2023 2022 2023 2022
HES 000 HEKS 000 HES 000 HE 000
Financial assets
Financial investments at fair
value through profit or loss
viwtual funds 79,667 73414 79,667 75414
School debentures 325 825 k25 825
Club debentures 560 560 60 S60
£1.052 76,700 £1,052 76,799

Thie fair values of cash and cash equivalents, elient bank balances, aceounts receivable, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities included in accounts
payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due from/to affiliates approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these Instruments,

The fair values of the financial assets and labilities are incleded at the amount at which the instrument
could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liguidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of mutua] fund and elub debenturss are based on quoted market prices. The school
debentures are carried at amortised cost less impairment logses as there is no active market. The school
debentures are imerest-free and repayable on demand. At the end of the year, management has
conducted an impairment assessment of the school debentures. As there is no history of default in
payment from the counterparty, and the counterparty has a healthy financial position, management
concluded that the carrying value approximates its fair value.
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

27, FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy
'Il'he following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Company's financial
instruments:
Assets preasured o foiy value:
As at 31 December 2023

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) {Level 3) Taotal
HES'000 HES$000 HICS'000 HES000
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:
Mutual funds 79,667 - - 79,667
School debentures - - 825 g25
Club debentures 560 - £ 564
8§0.227 - 825 81,052
As at 31 December 2022
Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unchservahle
markets nputs inputs
{Level 1) {Level 2) {Level 3) Taotal
HES'000 HES000 HES 000 HES000
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:
Mutual funds 75,414 = - 75,414
School debentures - - 825 825
Club debentures 560 - 2 560
75,974 - 825 76,799

Pluring the vear, there was no transfer of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Mil).
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

28,  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Company's principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, and amounts due
from immediate holding company. The main purposes of these financial instruments are to raise
finance for the Company’s aperations and to eam interest income. The Company has other financial
assets such as accounts receivable which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are credit risk and lguidity risk. The
board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks (where applicable) and they are
simmarised below.

Credit risk

‘The Company trades only with recognised and ereditworthy third parties. It is the Company's policy
that all customers who wish to wade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balznces are monitored on an on-geing basis and the Company’s exposure to bad
debts is considered not significant.

The eredit risk of the Company's other finansial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents,
arises from defauli of the counterparty (which refers to licensed banks in case of bank deposits), witha
meximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. The Company considers that
the banks with which it has placed its deposits are generally recognised as highly creditwarthy and that
the risk of defilt by these banks is comsidered remote and minimal. There are no significant
concentrations of eredit risk for the Company. )

Ligruidity risk

The Company had a solid financial position and maintains a strong and steady cash inflow from its
opérating activities. As at 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents of the Company amounted to
HES441 million (2022: HK$457 million). The current ratio of the Company was 1.24 (2022: |.07).

Since the Company has abundant cash and cash equivalents to meet its liabilities, the Company has not
entered into any bank loans, convertible bonds and other interest-bearing loans during the vear.

The following table summarises the maturity profile of the Company's finencial liabilities based on
contractual undiseounted cash flows ag the impact of discounting is insignificant. The maturity
grouping is based on the remaining period from the end of the reporting period 10 the contractual
maturity date. When a counterparty has a choice of when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated
to the earliest period in which the Company can be required to pay,
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

28,

FINAMCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CBJECTIVES AND POLICIES {continued)

The maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based
on the contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

2023
Less than lwos Over
O demand 1 year Years 5 years Total
HE$000 HES000 HES000 HESDO0 HESO00

Accounts payable 126,251 - - - 126251
Accrued lighilities and other pavables - 250,869 27,559 - 278428
Due to related parties 183,517 - . - 183517
Lease liabilities - 9540 - - 9340
Total liabilities 309,768 260,209 27,539 - 507536
2022
Less than o3 Over
On demand 1 year years 5 years Total
HES000 HK®000 HK$000 HES000 HESW0O
Agcounts payable 113,214 - - - 113,214
Acerued liabilities and other pavables - 228,192 22,568 - 250,760
e to related parties 281,633 - - - 281,633
Derivative financial instruments - 0,202 0340 18,342
Total liabilities 394,847 237394 31,908 - 664,149
Forelgn currency risk

The Company haolds assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than its functional currency,
Hong Kong Dallar ("HED"), and is therefore exposed to currency risk with respect to these curmencies.
Given the United States Dollar ("USD"™) is a linked currency with the Hong Kong dollar, the Company
is not exposed to meterial curreney risk arising from the United States Dollar ("USD") denominated
assets, Where applicable, the Company uses forward currency contracts for hedging purpose.

3l
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

28. FINANCLAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continned)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting peried o a reasonably
possible change in currency rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Company’s profit / loss

before tax and the Company's equity.
2023 2022
Increase Increase
in focal ﬂ:?::creasg Increase / in local mﬁ;‘:ﬁ Increase [
currency ekt [decrea_sa} in  cumency in loss ':fimm"?%)
against before tax equity against befors tax. O equity
HES'000 HES 00} HEE"000 HES 000
CHY % {270} (270) 5% (634 (634)
GBE 5% (125) (125) 5% (2,871} (51)
SGD % 171 171 5% {2,443) (2,443)

The tahle below summarises the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk at year cod by
categorising asscts and liabilities by major currencies

2023
CNY GBFP SGD Total
HES 000 HES 000 HES"(00 HEE 000
Spot assets - - 3,434 3,434
Spot liabilities (5,405) {2,507) - (7.912)
Wet long / {short)
pasition (5,405 {2,507) 3,434 (4,478)
2022
CNY GBP sGD Total
HES"000 HEE"000 HES 000 HES 000
Spot assets : = % .
Spot liabilities (12,688) (57.433) (48,868) (118,989)
et long / (short)
position (12,688) (57,433) {48,868) (118,98%)
52
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

28, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rabe risk

[nterest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in interest rates. The Company's interest rate poelicy requires it to manage interest
rate risk by maintaining appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments. The policy also requires
it to manage the maturities of interest-bearing financial assets.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Company did not hold any variable loans and borrowings, nor
fixed rate financial assets classified as available for sale, and accordingly the interest rate risk for the
Company 15 considered by management as minimal,

Capital mranagement

The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to safeguard the Company's ability to
continug as a going concem and 1o maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholder value, Morcover, as the Company 15 regulated by the Seconties and Futures
Commission in Hong Kong, it has to maintain sufficient liquid capital in accordance with the Hong
Kong Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (the “FRR Rules™) throughout the year,

The Company manages its capital structure and makes sdjustments 1o it, in light of changes in economic
conditions, To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment
to sharcholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made to the
objectives, policies or processes during the vears ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022,

The Company moaitors capital vsing liquid capital position, which is caleulated as liguid assets minus
ranking liabilities as specified in the FRR Rules. The Company's policy is to maintain liquid capital in
excess of the higher of 1) 5% of adjusted liabilities, as defined in the FRR; and 2) the minimum cepital
requirement of HEDSE,000,000 (equivalent to approximately USDEE5,0040), as required by the FRE
Fules. During the vear ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Company has complied
with the above liquid capital requirement.

29, UNCOMSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The Compeny manages several investment funds which meet the definition af structured entities.
including Mandatory Provident Funds, Occupational Retireinent Schemes, and open-ended unit trusts.
The Company holds interests in these structured entitics through the receipt of management fees from
these funds.

As at 31 December 2023, the tofal net asset values of these managed funds were HK$483,036,874,793
{2022: HK$432,070,398,564). The Company's interest in these managed funds was management fee
income of HK$1,560,054,763 (2022: HES$1,478907.868) for the year, incleding outstanding
receivables of HES149.964, 041 (2022: HKS156,437,589) as at 31 December 2023, The maximum
exposure to loss is equal to the outstanding receivables shown above,
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MANULIFE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT (HONG KONG) LIMITED
WOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

30. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Tisere were no material events subsequent to December 31, 2023 and up to the date of issuance of these
financial statements,

3l. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
22 April 2024,
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Independent auditor's report
To HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Manulife Investments Trust —
US Core Fixed Income Fund

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of Manulife Investments Trust — US Core Fixed Income Fund (a series-trust of Manulife
Investments Trust) (the Fund) as at 31 December 2023, and of its financial performance and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

What we have audited
The Fund®s financial statements comprise:

the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023;

the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders for the year then
ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Investment Manager®s Report (but does not include the financial statements and our auditor®
S report thereon).

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund®s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor®s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of management®s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund ™ s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor®s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for HSBC Trustee (Cayman)
Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of the Fund in accordance with the terms of our
engagement letter and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

26 April 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR®"S REPORT
To the members of Manulife Investment Management (Hong Kong) Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Manulife Investment Management (Hong Kong)
Limited (the "Company') set out on pages 6 to 54, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at 31 December 2023, and of its financial performance and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("'HKFRSs™) 1issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“'HKCO™).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“'HKSAs™) and with
reference to Practice Note 820 (Revised), The Audit of Licensed Corporations and Associated
Entities of Intermediaries issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor"s responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
HKICPA"s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code'), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor®s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the report of the directors.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. |If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the HKCO, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company”s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules
and satisfy the requirements of the Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor®s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the HKCO, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. In addition,
we are required to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules
and satisfy the requirements of the Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company"s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors® use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company®s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor®s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Report on matters under the Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and Securities
and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Securities and Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the
Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the
Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
22 April 2024
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